
 

Democratic Services democratic.services@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

 
 
 

Title: Housing Management Consultative 
Committee 

Date: 22 July 2008 

Time: 3.00pm 

Venue: Council Chamber, Hove Town Hall 

Members: Councillors: 
Caulfield (Chairman), Allen, Davey, Fryer, 
Harmer-Strange, Mears, Simpson (Opposition 
Spokesperson), Simson and Wells 

Contact: Martin Warren 
Senior Democratic Services Officer 
01273 291058 
martin.warren@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

 
The Town Hall has facilities for wheelchair users, 
including lifts and toilets 

 

T  

An Induction loop operates to enhance sound for 
anyone wearing a hearing aid or using a transmitter 
and infra red hearing aids are available for use 
during the meeting.  If you require any further 
information or assistance, please contact the 
receptionist on arrival. 

  

 FIRE / EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
 

If the fire alarm sounds continuously, or if you are 
instructed to do so, you must leave the building by 
the nearest available exit.  You will be directed to 
the nearest exit by council staff.  It is vital that you 
follow their instructions: 
 

• You should proceed calmly; do not run and do 
not use the lifts; 

• Do not stop to collect personal belongings; 

• Once you are outside, please do not wait 
immediately next to the building, but move 
some distance away and await further 
instructions; and 

• Do not re-enter the building until told that it is 
safe to do so. 

 Public Document Pack



HOUSING MANAGEMENT CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE 

 
 

 
Tenant Representatives: 

 
Muriel Briault, Leaseholder Action Group 

Stewart Gover, North & East 

Ron Gurney, West Hove & Portslade 

Ted Harman, Brighton East 

Ted Kitchen, North & East 

John Melson, High Rise Action Group 

Charles Penrose, Sheltered Housing Action Group 

Beryl Snelling, Central 

John Stevens, Tenant Disability Network 

Tina Urquhart, West Hove & Portslade 

Colin Carden, Older People's Council - Observer 

 

 



HOUSING MANAGEMENT CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

Part One Page 
 

1. PROCEDURAL BUSINESS  

 (a) Declaration of Substitutes - Where Councillors are unable to attend a 
meeting, a substitute Member from the same Political Group may 
attend, speak and vote in their place for that meeting. 

 
(b) Declarations of Interest by all Members present of any personal 

interests in matters on the agenda, the nature of any interest and 
whether the Members regard the interest as prejudicial under the 
terms of the Code of Conduct.  

 
(c) Exclusion of Press and Public - To consider whether, in view of the 

nature of the business to be transacted, or the nature of the 
proceedings, the press and public should be excluded from the 
meeting when any of the following items are under consideration. 

 
NOTE:  Any item appearing in Part 2 of the Agenda states in its 
heading the category under which the information disclosed in the 
report is exempt from disclosure and therefore not available to the 
public. 

 
A list and description of the exempt categories is available for public 
inspection at Brighton and Hove Town Halls. 

 

 

2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  

 Minutes of the meeting held on 11 March 2008 (copy attached).  
 

3. CHAIRMAN'S COMMUNICATIONS  

 

4. CALLOVER  

 

5. PUBLIC QUESTIONS  

 (The closing date for receipt of public questions is12 noon on 15 July 
2008) 
 
No public questions received by date of publication. 

 

 

6. WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS  

 No written questions have been received.  
 

7. PETITIONS  

 No petitions received by date of publication. 
 

 



HOUSING MANAGEMENT CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE 

 
 

 

8. DEPUTATIONS  

 (The closing date for receipt of deputations is 12 noon on 15 July 2008) 
 
No deputations received by date of publication. 

 

 

9. LETTERS FROM COUNCILLORS  

 No letters have been received.  
 

10. NOTICE OF MOTION REFERRED FROM COUNCIL  

 No Notices of Motion have been received.  
 

11. MATTERS REFERRED FOR RECONSIDERATION  

 No matters have been referred.  
 

12. REPORTS FROM OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEES  

 No reports have been received.  
 

13. SHELTERED HOUSING FOCUS GROUP UPDATE 1 - 12 

 Report of the Director of Adult Social Care & Housing (copy attached).  

 Contact Officer: Martin Reid Tel: 29-3321  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

14. ALLOCATIONS AND ADAPTATIONS FOCUS GROUPS UPDATE 13 - 22 

 Report of the Director of Adult Social Care & Housing (copy attached).  

 Contact Officer: Martin Reid Tel: 29-3321  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

15. HOUSING GREEN PAPER OPTIONS STAGE 1 REPORT 23 - 34 

 Report of the Director of Adult Social Care & Housing (copy attached).  

 Contact Officer: Martin Reid Tel: 29-3321  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

16. TENDER FOR A CONTRACT FOR THE PROVISION OF A SECURITY 
WHEEL CLAMPING SERVICE WITHIN BRIGHTON & HOVE 

35 - 44 

 Report of the Director of Adult Social Care & Housing (copy attached).  

 Contact Officer: David Rook Tel: 29-3271  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 



HOUSING MANAGEMENT CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE 

 
 

 

17. HOUSING STRATEGY 2008-2013; HEALTHY HOMES, HEALTHY 
LIVES, HEALTHY CITY 

45 - 50 

 Report of the Director of Adult Social Care & Housing (copy attached).  

 Contact Officer: Martin Reid Tel: 29-3321  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

18. HOUSING MANAGEMENT PERFORMANCE REPORT 51 - 88 

 Report of the Director of Adult Social Care & Housing (copy attached).  

 Contact Officer: John Austin-Locke Tel: 29-1008  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

19. EXTERNAL ENVELOPE REPAIRS TO SOMERSET & WILTSHIRE 
HOUSE 2008 

89 - 94 

 Report of the Director of Adult Social Care & Housing (copy attached).  

 Contact Officer: Simon Throp Tel: 29-6806  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

 

The City Council actively welcomes members of the public and the press to attend its 
meetings and holds as many of its meetings as possible in public.  Provision is also made 
on the agendas for public questions to committees and details of how questions can be 
raised can be found on the website and/or on agendas for the meetings. 
 
The closing date for receipt of public questions and deputations for the next meeting is 12 
noon on the fifth working day before the meeting. 
 
Agendas and minutes are published on the council’s website www.brighton-hove.gov.uk.  
Agendas are available to view five working days prior to the meeting date. 
 
Meeting papers can be provided, on request, in large print, in Braille, on audio tape or on 
disc, or translated into any other language as requested. 
 
For further details and general enquiries about this meeting contact Martin Warren, (01273 
291058, email martin.warren@brighton-hove.gov.uk) or email 
democratic.services@brighton-hove.gov.uk  
 

 

Date of Publication – 11 July 2008 

 

 

 





 

 

Item 2 on agenda 

 

BRIGHTON & HOVE CITY COUNCIL 
 

HOUSING MANAGEMENT SUB-COMMITTEE 

 

3PM – 11 MARCH 2008 

 

COUNCIL CHAMBER 

HOVE TOWN HALL 

 

MINUTES 

 

Present:  Councillor Mears (Chairman); Councillor Wells (Deputy 

Chairman); Councillors; Allen, Caulfield, Fryer, Pidgeon, 

Randall, Simpson (OS) and Simson. 

Tenant  

Representatives:  Muriel Briault (Leaseholder Action Group), Stewart 

Gover (North & East), Ron Gurney (West Hove & 

Portslade), Ted Harman (Brighton East), John Melson 

(High-Rise Action Group), Ted Kitchen (North & East), 

Charles Penrose (Sheltered Action Housing Group), Chris 

Kift  (Central), Beryl Snelling (Central), John Stevens 

(Tenant Disability Network) and Tina Urquhart (West 

Hove & Portslade). 

 

 
PART ONE 

 

 ACTION 

38. PROCEDURAL BUSINESS  

38A Declarations of Substitutes  

38.1 There were none.  

38B Declarations of Interest  

38.2 There were none.  

38C Exclusion of Press and Public  

38.3 The Committee considered whether the press and public should 

be excluded from the meeting during the consideration of any 

items contained in the agenda, having regard to the nature of 

the business to be transacted and the nature of the proceedings 

and the likelihood as to whether, if members of the press and 

public were present, there would be disclosure to them of 

 

1



HOUSING MANAGEMENT SUB-COMMITTEE 11 MARCH 2008 

 

confidential or exempt information as defined in Schedule 12A, 

Part 5A, Section 100A(4) or 100 1 of the Local Government Act 

1972 (as amended). 

38.4 RESOLVED - That the press and public be not excluded from the 

meeting.  

 

2



HOUSING MANAGEMENT SUB-COMMITTEE 11 MARCH 2008 

 

 

39. MINUTES   

39.1 RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 15 January 

2008 be approved and signed by the Chairman. 

 

40. CHAIRMAN’S COMMUNICATIONS  

40.1 Chairman introduced and welcomed the newly appointed 

Director of Adult Social Care and Housing, Joy Hollister. 

Chairman thanked the Interim Director of Housing for his hard 

work during the interregnum. 

 

40.2 Chairman announced that she had created two new working 

groups for tenants; the ‘Chairman’s Sheltered Housing Working 

Group’ and the ‘Chairman’s Tenancy Agreement Working 

Group’. 

 

40.3 The meeting noted that a total of seven Chairman's Working 

Groups had or were looking at a number of specific areas of 

service; ‘Allocations’, ‘adaptations’, ‘estate services’, ‘Estate 

Development Budget’ and planning for the tenant conference 

in April 2008. 

The first four of these groups had concluded their initial, short-

term, brief and presented at the last Housing Management Sub 

Committee. These findings were being reported back to Area 

Panels.  

 

40.4 Chairman noted that the ‘Tenant Conference’ was being 

organised by a group of Tenant Representatives and would take 

place on April 7th. 

 

41. CALLOVER  

41.1 RESOLVED - That, with the exception of the items reserved (and 

marked with an asterisk), the recommendations and resolutions 

contained therein be approved and adopted without debate, 

excepting Notices of Motion, Deputations, Petitions and letters. 

 

42. PUBLIC QUESTIONS  

42.1 There were none.  

3



HOUSING MANAGEMENT SUB-COMMITTEE 11 MARCH 2008 

 

 

*43. HOUSING GREEN PAPER  

43.1 The sub-committee considered the report of the Interim Director, 

Housing and City Support in relation to the Housing Green Paper 

(for copy see minute book). 

 

43.2 RESOLVED – (1) that the range of options and opportunities 

offered in the Housing Green paper be noted and that these are 

to be examined in detail in order to ascertain whether a 

sustainable case can be made for further development in order 

to support strategic housing and other priorities in the City. 

 

(2) That it be noted that external financial and legal advice is 

being sought in order to support officers to undertake detailed 

analysis of the practicalities of taking forward any Housing Green 

Paper options or opportunities 

 

(3) That it be noted that the Chairman of Housing is committed 

to ensuring that a detailed report on this analysis of options be 

brought forward through the Council decision making process 

and the case made to enable the further development of any 

appropriate model. 

 

 

*44. PROCUREMENT STRATEGY FOR THE HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 

STOCK 

 

44.1 The sub-committee considered the report of the Interim Director, 

Housing and City Support in relation to the Procurement Strategy 

for the Housing Revenue Account Stock (for copy see minute 

book). 

 

44.2 Stewart Gover welcomed the focus on partnership working, but 

was concerned about the use of longer-term contracts. 

 

44.3 Tina Urquhart was reassured that Tenants would be involved in 

monitoring the contracts via the ‘Asset Management Panel’, but 

echoed concerns about the length of the contracts. 

 

44.4 Councillors Caulfield welcomed the ‘clerk of works’ role and the 

stringent monitoring that this would afford. 

 

 

44.5 Councillors Simpson and Allen shared concerns about longer 

term contracts. Councillor Allen was disappointed that the 

‘consortia’ model has been dismissed.  

 

 

44.6 Councillor Randall felt that the report was aspirational and did 

not give enough detail on the proposed longer term contracts. 

He felt that there was scope to involve local businesses and 

 

4



HOUSING MANAGEMENT SUB-COMMITTEE 11 MARCH 2008 

 

contractors and to develop training opportunities for young 

people. 

 

44.7 Muriel Briault noted that Leaseholders would be involved in 

consultation about the new contracts. 

 

 

44.8 Councillor Fryer noted that the estimated £156 million reduction 

in unit repair and planned maintenance costs and consultancy 

fees had been calculated by a combination of market testing, 

comparison of current costs and advice from consultants. 

 

 

44.9 Tenant Representatives accepted the reticence of some 

Members to move forward with the project, but noted that 

progress had to be made and that taking the process step by 

step seemed to be a reasonable way forward. 

 

 

44.10 Chairman assured Councillor Randall that a programme 

detailing the proposed progress of the procurement process 

could be shared with Members prior to the issue being debated 

at Policy & Resources Committee. 

 

Helen 

Furlong 

44.11 Chairman agreed that a report on damp in council owned 

homes would be provided to a future meeting. 

Helen 

Furlong 

44.12 RESOLVED – To recommend to Housing Committee that Policy & 

Resources Committee:  

 

(1) approve the revised procurement strategy for 

comprehensive long term partnering agreements for the 

repair and maintenance of the council’s housing stock; 

 

(2) approve commencement of the procurement process by 

issuing the invitation to tender for the comprehensive, 10 

year, long term agreements once the preparatory work 

has been completed 

 

Tenant Representatives indicated that they supported the 

recommendations. 
 

 

*45 HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2008/09 

AND 2009/10 

 

45.1 The sub-committee considered the report of the Interim Director, 

Housing and City Support in relation to the Housing Revenue 

Account Capital Programme 2008/09 and 2009/10 (for copy see 

minute book). 

 

45.2 Members discussed the use of upvc in council owned properties 

and noted the previous decision of the Housing Management 

 

5



HOUSING MANAGEMENT SUB-COMMITTEE 11 MARCH 2008 

 

Sub-Committee that appropriate materials would be used 

dependent on the building in question. 

45.4 
RESOLVED - To recommend to Housing Committee that Policy & 

Resources Committee: 

1) approve the HRA capital programme of £16.271 million for 

2008/09 and £12.173 million for 2009/10. 

2) approve the commencement of the tender process for 

essential structural works to Somerset and Wiltshire high rise 

blocks. 

 

 

6



HOUSING MANAGEMENT SUB-COMMITTEE 11 MARCH 2008 

 

 

*46. ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE MOVE TO A NEW CONSTITUTION  

46.1 The sub-committee considered the report of the Director of 

Strategy & Governance in relation to the Arrangements for the 

move to a new Constitution (for copy see minute book).  

 

46.2 A diagram showing the structure of the proposed decision 

making structure was tabled for information. 

 

46.3 Councillors Allen and Randall appreciated the efforts that the 

Chairman had made to ensure that a formal place remained for 

Tenant Representatives and Members to discuss the business of 

Housing Management. 

 

46.4 Stewart Gover noted that the Tenant Conference would be 

debating a proposal to bring into being a Citywide Assembly of 

Tenant Representatives. 

 

46.5 RESOLVED - That (1) the requirements of the Local Government 

and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (the Act) requiring 

Brighton & Hove City Council to move to new constitutional 

arrangements be noted; 

 

(2) how work of the current Sub-Committee will be discharged 

under the proposed new arrangements be noted; 

 

(3) the proposal to prepare a book to commemorate the life of 

this Sub-Committee, for which Members are asked to participate 

in a photograph at this meeting be noted. 

 

 

 

The meeting concluded at 5.00pm 

 

 

 

 

Signed     Chairman 

 

 

 

Dated this     day of     2008 

 

7



8



Housing Management 
Consultative Committee  

Agenda Item 13 

Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

 

 

Subject: Sheltered Housing Focus Group update 

Date of Meeting: 22 July 2008 

Report of: Director of Adult Social Care & Housing 

Contact Officer: Name:  Mr Martin Reid Tel: 29-3321      

 E-mail: Martin.reid@brighton-hove.gov.uk  

Wards Affected: All  

 
 
FOR GENERAL RELEASE  
 
1. SUMMARY AND POLICY CONTEXT: 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update Housing Management Consultative 
Committee on the work of the Sheltered Housing Focus Group looking at issues 
raised by tenants concerning council owned sheltered housing in the City. 

 
1.2 The work of the Focus Group is ongoing and it is proposed that the full report of 

the Group is considered by Housing Management Consultative Committee in 
September.   

 
1.3 In particular, we wish to reflect the outcomes of the informal scheme based 

sheltered housing consultation events in the full report.  These scheme based 
consultation events were set up at the request of the tenant representatives on 
the Focus Group.  The scheme based consultation events are currently ongoing. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 

  

 
2.1 That the Housing Management Consultative Committee (HMCC) notes the 

progress of the Sheltered Housing Focus group to date and that a full report on 
the conclusions of the Focus Group will be brought back to HMCC in September. 

 
3. RELEVANT BACKGROUND INFORMATION/CHRONOLOGY OF KEY 

EVENTS: 
 
3.1 Housing Management Sub Committee 15th January 2008 considered reports 

from the initial Chairman’s Working Groups.  At the Housing Management Sub-
Committee on 11 March 2008 the Chairman announced the creation of a 
Working Group for Sheltered Housing to operate in a similar way to those already 
reviewing other areas. 

 
3.2 Following this meeting, a focus group consisting tenant representatives and 

officers was set up to work with the Head of Housing Strategy to undertake a 
review of issues arising concerning council owned sheltered housing in the City. 

9



 

 

 
3.3 In line with other previous groups the Sheltered Housing Focus Group consists of 

members (and deputies) drawn from each Area Panel, the High Rise Action 
Group and the Sheltered Housing Action Group.  Details of attendees are 
included in the appendix. 

 
3.4 The Focus Group used the points arising from the Sheltered Housing Action 

Group Tenants only meeting on 13 February 2008 to frame meeting topics and 
the Group’s Work Plan. 

 
3.5 The first meeting of the Focus Group took place on 11 April 2008.  There have 

now been four subsequent meetings. 
 

3.6 Topics considered in the meeting included: Supporting People Strategy; 
Communication between the Council and residents; Accessible housing and 
allocations; Housing Management services; Asset management. 

 
3.7 A number of key themes emerged from the meetings which tenant 

representatives wish to see addressed.  These are captured in the attached draft 
work plan under points raised.  This draft work plan is work in progress and has 
been appended to this update report by way of illustration of what the Group has 
been looking at to date. 

 
3.8 A full work plan with actions taken and further action required will be presented 

with the full report to Housing Management Consultative Committee in 
September. 

 
4. CONSULTATION 

  

 

4.1 As part of the work of the Sheltered Housing Focus Group and at the request of 
tenant representatives on the Group, informal tenant consultation events 
organised by Supporting People and Housing Management are currently taking 
place across all the sheltered housing schemes owned by Brighton & Hove City 
Council. 

 
4.2 A report on the outcomes of the scheme based consultation events will be 

incorporated into the full report of the Sheltered Tenant Focus Group. 
 

5. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 
 
 Financial Implications: 
 
5.1 The work plan attached as an Appendix is a draft document listing the themes 

currently under discussion. Most issues raised will have financial implications. 
When the final work plan is presented to the Housing Management Consultative 
Committee in September, the financial implications of each issue will be 
considered and reported as part of the plan.  

  
 

Finance Officer Consulted: Monica Brooks Date: 9/7/08 

10



 

 

 
 Legal Implications: 
  

5.2 As the report is for noting there are no significant legal implications.  Further no 
individual’s human rights are adversely affected. 

 
 Lawyer Consulted: Liz Woodley Date: 9/7/08 
 
 Equalities Implications: 
  

 
5.3 Any policy or strategy development arising from the work reported above will be 

subject to a full Equalities Impact Assessment. 
 
 Sustainability Implications: 
  

 
5.4 There are no sustainability implications arising directly from this report.  Housing 

is one of the 12 key objectives in the Council’s Sustainability Strategy which aims 
‘to ensure that everyone has access to decent affordable housing that meets 
their needs’. 

 
 Crime & Disorder Implications:  
  

 
5.5 There are no direct implications arising from this report. 
 

Risk and Opportunity Management Implications:  
  
 

5.6 Any policy or strategy development work arising from the work of the Focus 
Group will be undertaken with due regard to appropriate risk assessment 
requirements.  

 
 Corporate / Citywide Implications: 
 
5.7 The work of this Focus Group reflects the priorities and aims of the 2020 

Community Strategy and Council’s strategic goals of improving housing in the 
City and ensuring that residents have a healthy living environment. 

 
 

 
 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 
Appendices: 
 
1. Draft Work Plan  

 
Background Documents 
 
None 

11



 

 

 

12



  S
h
e
lt
e
re
d
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 F
o
c
u
s
 G
ro
u
p
 d
ra
ft
 W
o
rk
 P
la
n
  

 T
e
n
a
n
t 
R
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
s
: 

C
h
a
rl
e
s
 P
e
n
ro
s
e
 (
S
h
e
lt
e
re
d
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 A
c
ti
o
n
 G
ro
u
p
);
 T
e
d
 K
it
c
h
e
n
 (
N
o
rt
h
 a
n
d
 E
a
s
t)
; 
K
a
th
 D
a
v
is
 (
B
ri
g
h
to
n
 E
a
s
t)
; 
J
o
h
n
 

M
e
ls
o
n
 (
H
ig
h
 R
is
e
 A
c
ti
o
n
 G
ro
u
p
);
 R
a
y
 F
re
e
m
a
n
 (
C
e
n
tr
a
l)
; 
J
u
li
e
 F
o
s
b
e
rr
y
 (
W
e
s
t)
; 
T
e
d
 H
a
rm
a
n
 (
B
ri
g
h
to
n
 E
a
s
t 
–
 D
e
p
u
ty
 f
o
r 

K
a
th
 D
a
v
is
).
 

 

P
o
in
ts
 r
a
is
e
d
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 t
a
k
e
n
 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
A
c
ti
o
n
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 

T
e
n
a
n
ts
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
 a
 S
h
e
lt
e
re
d
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 P
o
li
c
y
 

•
 
T
h
a
t 
w
o
rk
s
 f
o
r 
te
n
a
n
ts
, 
th
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 s
ta
ff
. 

•
 
T
h
a
t 
is
 c
le
a
r 
a
n
d
 t
ra
n
s
p
a
re
n
t 
a
n
d
 e
a
s
ily
 

u
n
d
e
rs
to
o
d
. 

•
 
T
h
a
t 
o
u
tl
in
e
s
 f
u
tu
re
 a
n
d
 s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 t
h
in
k
in
g
. 

•
 
T
h
a
t 
p
ro
v
id
e
s
 c
o
n
s
is
te
n
c
y
 i
n
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 d
e
liv
e
ry
. 

•
 
T
h
a
t 
h
a
s
 c
le
a
r 
a
n
d
 c
o
n
s
is
te
n
t 
g
u
id
e
lin
e
s
 a
b
o
u
t 

“s
e
rv
ic
e
 c
h
a
rg
e
s
”.
 

•
 
T
h
a
t 
h
a
s
 c
le
a
r 
a
n
d
 c
o
n
s
is
te
n
t 
g
u
id
e
lin
e
s
 /
 

p
ro
to
c
o
ls
/ 
a
g
re
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 a
b
o
u
t 
th
e
 h
ir
in
g
 o
f 

c
o
m
m
o
n
 r
o
o
m
s
, 
a
c
ro
s
s
 a
ll 
s
c
h
e
m
e
s
. 

 T
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 w
o
rk
 o
f 

th
e
 F
o
c
u
s
 G
ro
u
p
. 

 

A
s
s
e
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
/ 
p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 

A
re
 t
h
e
re
 a
n
y
 p
la
n
s
 t
o
 a
d
d
re
s
s
 t
h
e
 i
s
s
u
e
 o
f 
s
h
a
re
d
 

fa
c
ili
ti
e
s
 i
n
 s
h
e
lt
e
re
d
 h
o
u
s
in
g
?
 

•
 
If
 a
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 i
s
 u
n
d
e
r 
o
c
c
u
p
ie
d
 -
 s
u
re
ly
 i
t 
is
 n
o
t 

V
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 
M
o
n
e
y
?
  

•
 
S
o
m
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 h
a
v
e
 e
m
p
ty
 2
 b
e
d
ro
o
m
 f
la
ts
 i
s
 t
h
is
 

 R
e
q
u
e
s
t 
fo
r 
b
re
a
k
d
o
w
n
 o
f 
e
x
te
n
t 
o
f 

s
h
a
re
d
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 d
e
m
a
n
d
 p
ro
fi
le
 f
o
r 

th
e
s
e
 p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
 a
ro
s
e
 f
ro
m
 i
n
it
ia
l 

d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
. 
 A
s
 d
id
 t
h
e
 s
u
g
g
e
s
ti
o
n
 o
f 

 

13



  

P
o
in
ts
 r
a
is
e
d
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 t
a
k
e
n
 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
A
c
ti
o
n
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 

lo
s
s
 o
f 
re
v
e
n
u
e
?
 

v
is
it
in
g
 s
o
m
e
 o
f 
th
e
s
e
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l 

s
c
h
e
m
e
s
. 

 

C
o
m
m
o
n
 r
o
o
m
s
 

•
 
S
o
m
e
ti
m
e
s
 c
o
m
m
o
n
 a
re
a
s
 a
re
 u
s
e
d
 f
o
r 
d
a
y
 c
e
n
tr
e
s
 

/ 
g
ro
u
p
s
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 d
a
y
, 
te
n
a
n
ts
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
 t
h
a
t 

p
ro
to
c
o
ls
 /
 p
o
lic
ie
s
 /
 a
g
re
e
m
e
n
ts
 b
e
 p
u
t 
in
 p
la
c
e
 

e
.g
. 
a
 c
o
n
s
is
te
n
t 
c
h
a
rg
in
g
 p
o
lic
y
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 f
o
r 
h
ir
in
g
 

o
f 
ro
o
m
s
. 

•
 
T
h
e
re
 m
a
y
 b
e
 a
 s
e
c
u
ri
ty
 r
is
k
 a
s
 p
e
o
p
le
 h
a
v
e
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 w
h
o
le
 b
u
ild
in
g
s
 o
n
c
e
 t
h
e
y
 a
re
 i
n
 a
n
d
 

s
o
m
e
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
 m
a
y
 l
e
a
v
e
 t
h
e
ir
 f
ro
n
t 
d
o
o
rs
 o
p
e
n
 

e
s
p
e
c
ia
lly
 i
f 
th
e
y
 h
a
v
e
 a
 c
a
re
r 
/ 
v
is
it
o
r 
a
rr
iv
in
g
. 
 

•
 
T
e
n
a
n
ts
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
a
n
y
 i
n
c
o
m
e
 g
e
n
e
ra
te
d
 

fr
o
m
 r
o
o
m
 h
ir
e
 s
h
o
u
ld
 g
o
 i
n
to
 t
h
e
 s
o
c
ia
l 
fu
n
d
. 

•
 
T
e
n
a
n
ts
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
ro
o
m
 h
ir
in
g
 i
s
 m
o
n
it
o
re
d
 

a
n
d
 a
g
re
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
 b
e
fo
re
 h
ir
in
g
 a
g
re
e
m
e
n
ts
 

ta
k
e
 p
la
c
e
. 

 •
 
A
d
d
re
s
s
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 o
n
 a
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 b
y
 

s
c
h
e
m
e
 b
a
s
is
 

•
 
S
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 P
e
o
p
le
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 b
a
s
e
d
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 e
v
e
n
ts
. 

 

B
u
d
g
e
t 

•
 
In
 t
h
e
 p
a
s
t 
th
e
re
 w
a
s
 a
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 b
u
d
g
e
t 
fo
r 
s
h
e
lt
e
re
d
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
. 
T
e
n
a
n
ts
 w
o
u
ld
 l
ik
e
 t
o
 k
n
o
w
 

a
b
o
u
t 
a
n
y
 f
u
tu
re
 i
n
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t 
p
la
n
s
. 

 
 

O
u
t 
o
f 
h
o
u
rs
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

•
 
N
e
e
d
 t
o
 c
la
ri
fy
 t
h
e
 r
e
m
it
 o
f 
c
a
re
 l
in
k
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 

•
 
F
u
rt
h
e
r 
d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 a
re
 n
e
e
d
e
d
 r
e
g
a
rd
in
g
 t
h
e
 u
s
e
 

o
f 
e
le
c
tr
ic
 d
o
o
rs
 a
n
d
 s
a
fe
ty
. 

 
 

14



  

P
o
in
ts
 r
a
is
e
d
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 t
a
k
e
n
 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
A
c
ti
o
n
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
 

A
ll 
a
g
re
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 i
s
s
u
e
 o
f 
c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
 k
e
e
p
s
 

b
e
in
g
 r
a
is
e
d
. 
 

 N
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
fi
d
e
n
t 
th
a
t 
e
v
e
ry
o
n
e
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
d
 i
s
 k
e
p
t 
u
p
 

to
 d
a
te
 w
it
h
 a
n
y
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 a
v
o
id
 r
u
m
o
u
rs
 a
n
d
 

s
p
e
c
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 c
o
n
s
is
te
n
t.
 

  

M
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 o
rg
a
n
is
e
d
 i
n
 a
 w
a
y
 

th
a
t:
 

•
 
E
n
s
u
re
s
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 a
t 
a
ll 
le
v
e
ls
; 
 

•
 
B
a
la
n
c
e
s
 f
o
rm
a
l 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 w
it
h
 m
o
re
 

in
fo
rm
a
l 
s
e
tt
in
g
s
; 

•
 
In
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 u
p
d
a
te
s
 /
 m
in
u
te
s
  
s
h
o
u
ld
 

s
h
o
w
 w
h
a
t 
h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 a
g
re
e
d
, 
w
h
y
 a
n
d
 

h
o
w
 p
e
o
p
le
 c
a
n
 g
e
t 
m
o
re
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
d
; 

•
 
A
ll 
in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
 i
n
 

a
 c
le
a
r,
 c
o
n
c
is
e
 a
n
d
 a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
le
 

fo
rm
a
t.
 

 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 c
h
a
rg
e
s
 

G
e
n
e
ra
l 
P
ri
n
c
ip
a
l 
–
 a
ll 
te
n
a
n
ts
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 a
w
a
re
 o
f 
w
h
a
t 

th
e
y
 h
a
v
e
 t
o
 p
a
y
 f
o
r 
a
n
d
 h
o
w
 c
h
a
rg
e
s
 a
re
 b
ro
k
e
n
 

d
o
w
n
. 
T
h
e
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 a
b
o
u
t 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 c
h
a
rg
e
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
: 

•
 
B
e
 c
le
a
r 
a
n
d
 c
o
n
s
is
te
n
t 
d
e
ta
ili
n
g
 a
 b
re
a
k
d
o
w
n
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 c
h
a
rg
e
d
 f
o
r;
 

•
 
A
 c
o
p
y
 i
n
 l
a
rg
e
 p
ri
n
t,
 l
a
m
in
a
te
d
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 p
u
t 
 i
n
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
a
l 
a
re
a
s
; 

•
 
In
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 a
b
o
u
t 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 c
h
a
rg
e
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 o
n
 t
h
e
 

b
a
c
k
 o
f 
/ 
a
tt
a
c
h
e
d
 t
o
 p
e
o
p
le
’s
 r
e
n
t 
b
o
o
k
s
; 

•
 
In
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 a
b
o
u
t 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 c
h
a
rg
e
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 i
n
 a
n
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
le
 f
o
rm
a
t.
 

 P
e
te
r 
H
u
n
tb
a
c
h
 /
 N
ic
k
 H
ib
b
e
rd
 a
tt
e
n
d
e
d
 

th
e
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 o
n
 0
9
.0
6
.0
8
 

 E
x
p
lo
re
 b
e
s
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 o
n
 p
ro
d
u
c
in
g
 m
o
re
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
le
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
rm
a
ts
. 

   

 P
e
te
r 
to
 t
a
k
e
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 D
e
li
v
e
ry
 /
 2
4
 h
o
u
r 
c
o
v
e
r 

•
 
T
e
n
a
n
ts
 w
o
u
ld
 l
ik
e
 t
o
 k
n
o
w
 w
h
e
n
 J
o
b
 d
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
s
 /
 

P
e
te
r 
H
u
n
tb
a
c
h
 /
 N
ic
k
 H
ib
b
e
rd
 a
tt
e
n
d
e
d
 

th
e
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 o
n
 0
9
.0
6
.0
8
 

 

15



  

P
o
in
ts
 r
a
is
e
d
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 t
a
k
e
n
 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
A
c
ti
o
n
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 

s
c
h
e
m
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
e
s
 w
e
re
 l
a
s
t 

re
v
ie
w
e
d
 a
n
d
 c
h
e
c
k
e
d
 f
o
r 
c
o
n
s
is
te
n
c
y
. 

•
 
T
h
e
re
 n
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 b
e
 a
 b
a
la
n
c
e
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 p
e
o
p
le
’s
 t
im
e
 

a
n
d
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 d
u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
th
is
 

m
a
y
 h
a
v
e
 o
n
 s
c
h
e
m
e
s
. 

 P
e
te
r 
e
x
p
la
in
e
d
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
is
s
u
e
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 d
if
fi
c
u
lt
ie
s
 

re
c
ru
it
in
g
 s
it
e
 b
a
s
e
d
 s
ta
ff
. 
 

 

In
v
o
lv
in
g
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
 i
n
 r
e
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t 
 

•
 
T
e
n
a
n
ts
 s
ta
te
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
y
 w
o
u
ld
 l
ik
e
 t
o
 b
e
 m
o
re
 

in
v
o
lv
e
d
 i
n
 s
ta
ff
 r
e
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t.
 

S
e
v
e
n
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 t
ra
in
e
d
 t
o
 m
a
k
e
 

u
p
 a
 p
o
o
l 
o
f 
te
n
a
n
ts
 t
h
a
t 
c
a
n
 b
e
 c
a
lle
d
 

u
p
o
n
 f
o
r 
s
ta
ff
 r
e
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t.
 

 

N
o
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
a
c
ti
o
n
 –
 o
n
 g
o
in
g
 

T
H
E
 A
S
S
E
S
S
M
E
N
T
 P
R
O
C
E
S
S
 –
 A
ll
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
  
 

•
 
T
e
n
a
n
ts
 w
o
u
ld
 l
ik
e
 t
o
 k
n
o
w
 h
o
w
 a
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 

s
h
e
lt
e
re
d
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 f
it
 i
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 g
e
n
e
ra
l 
a
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 

p
o
lic
y
. 

•
 
T
e
n
a
n
ts
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
 a
 r
o
b
u
s
t 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
 l
o
o
k
in
g
 a
t 
p
e
o
p
le
’s
 n
e
e
d
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
ir
 

s
u
it
a
b
ili
ty
 f
o
r 
s
h
e
lt
e
re
d
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 i
s
 t
h
e
 a
g
e
 l
im
it
 o
f 
6
0
 

a
lw
a
y
s
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
. 

•
 
T
e
n
a
n
ts
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
 l
o
o
k
in
g
 a
t 
o
th
e
r 
lo
c
a
l 

a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 m
o
d
e
ls
 o
f 
d
e
liv
e
ry
 

e
.g
. 
E
x
tr
a
 c
a
re
 H
o
u
s
in
g
. 

•
 
T
e
n
a
n
ts
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
p
e
o
p
le
 b
e
 g
iv
e
n
 e
n
o
u
g
h
 

ti
m
e
 t
o
 t
h
in
k
 a
b
o
u
t 
w
h
a
t 
th
e
y
 m
a
y
 o
r 
m
a
y
 n
o
t 
n
e
e
d
 

in
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 a
 n
e
w
 p
ro
p
e
rt
y
. 

•
 
T
e
n
a
n
ts
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
y
 b
e
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

a
d
v
e
rt
is
in
g
 a
n
d
 v
ie
w
in
g
s
 o
f 
s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 t
h
e
y
 

•
 
S
u
g
g
e
s
ti
o
n
 t
h
a
t 
a
 p
re
 m
o
v
e
 i
n
te
rv
ie
w
 /
 

c
h
e
c
k
lis
t 
s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 d
ra
w
n
 u
p
 t
o
 h
e
lp
 

p
e
o
p
le
. 

   

F
ro
m
 t
h
e
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 w
o
rk
in
g
 g
ro
u
p
s
 a
n
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
 i
s
 t
o
 b
e
 p
u
t 
in
 p
la
c
e
. 

T
h
is
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
 a
d
d
re
s
s
e
s
: 

•
 
S
h
e
lt
e
re
d
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 

•
 
H
ig
h
 n
e
e
d
 l
e
v
e
ls
 /
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 
c
a
re
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 

•
 
In
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 f
ro
m
 A
c
c
e
s
s
ib
le
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 

O
ff
ic
e
r 
(T
a
b
it
h
a
 C
o
rk
) 
a
n
d
 U
n
d
e
r 

o
c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n
 O
ff
ic
e
r 
(M
a
rk
 R
ic
h
a
rd
s
o
n
) 
 

•
 
L
in
k
s
 w
it
h
 o
th
e
r 
re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 e
.g
. 
c
a
re
 

lin
k
 a
n
d
 t
e
le
c
a
re
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 

16



  

P
o
in
ts
 r
a
is
e
d
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 t
a
k
e
n
 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
A
c
ti
o
n
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
t.
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 P
e
o
p
le
 

T
e
n
a
n
t 
re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
s
 f
e
d
 b
a
c
k
 t
h
e
ir
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 a
b
o
u
t 

la
c
k
 o
f 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 h
o
w
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
m
a
y
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 

 T
e
n
a
n
t 
re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
s
 f
e
d
 b
a
c
k
 t
h
a
t 
p
e
o
p
le
 a
re
 v
e
ry
 

w
o
rr
ie
d
 b
y
 r
u
m
o
u
rs
 o
f 
s
o
m
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 b
e
in
g
 w
it
h
d
ra
w
n
 

a
n
d
 w
h
e
th
e
r 
th
is
 w
ill
 a
ff
e
c
t 
th
e
m
. 

   

D
ia
n
a
 B
e
rn
h
a
rd
t 
(H
e
a
d
 o
f 
S
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 

P
e
o
p
le
) 
a
tt
e
n
d
e
d
 t
h
e
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 d
a
te
d
 

2
5
.0
4
.0
8
 a
n
d
 S
h
e
lt
e
re
d
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 A
c
ti
o
n
 

G
ro
u
p
 1
4
th
 M
a
y
 2
0
0
8
. 

1
. 
S
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 c
o
n
fi
rm
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
n
o
 

s
ta
rt
 o
r 
fi
n
is
h
 d
a
te
s
 f
o
r 
im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 

a
n
d
 c
la
ri
fi
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
n
o
th
in
g
 w
ill
 b
e
 d
o
n
e
 

w
it
h
o
u
t 
fu
ll 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
 i
n
 

s
h
e
lt
e
re
d
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 

2
. 
S
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 P
e
o
p
le
 a
n
d
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
h
a
v
e
 o
rg
a
n
is
e
d
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 

b
y
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 e
v
e
n
ts
. 
 

3
. 
T
h
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 e
v
e
n
ts
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 

s
e
t–
 C
h
a
rl
e
s
 c
ir
c
u
la
te
d
 t
h
e
s
e
 d
a
te
s
 t
o
 

a
ll 
p
re
s
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
is
 f
o
c
u
s
 g
ro
u
p
. 

O
n
g
o
in
g
 

A
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
s
 

•
 
T
h
e
re
 i
s
 a
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
a
ll 
th
e
 t
e
n
a
n
t 
fo
c
u
s
 

g
ro
u
p
s
 w
o
rk
 g
e
ts
 l
in
k
e
d
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r.
 

•
 
N
e
e
d
 t
o
 m
a
k
e
 t
h
e
 b
e
s
t 
u
s
e
 o
f 
s
to
c
k
 a
n
d
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
- 

£
7
5
0
K
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
s
 b
u
d
g
e
t.
 

•
 
T
h
e
re
 a
re
 d
e
m
a
n
d
 /
 c
o
s
t 
im
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

a
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
s
. 

•
 
C
o
u
n
c
ils
 m
u
s
t 
h
a
v
e
 a
n
 a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 r
e
g
is
te
r.
 

•
 
Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 –
 w
h
y
 i
s
 O
c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
T
h
e
ra
p
is
t 

T
a
b
it
h
a
 C
o
rk
 (
A
c
c
e
s
s
ib
le
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 

O
ff
ic
e
r)
 a
tt
e
n
d
e
d
 t
h
e
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 1
6
.0
5
.0
8
. 

•
 
1
2
,0
0
0
 p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
 b
e
in
g
 a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
 f
o
r 

th
e
ir
 m
o
b
ili
ty
 g
ro
u
p
. 

•
 
Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
n
a
ir
e
s
 a
n
d
 l
e
tt
e
rs
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 

s
e
n
t 
o
u
t,
 e
x
a
m
p
le
s
 s
h
a
re
d
. 

•
 
T
a
b
it
h
a
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 w
it
h
 t
e
a
m
s
, 

a
c
c
o
m
p
a
n
y
in
g
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 o
ff
ic
e
rs
 o
n
 

•
 
T
a
b
it
h
a
 i
s
 a
im
in
g
 t
o
 h
a
v
e
 t
h
e
 s
y
m
b
o
ls
 

m
o
v
e
 n
e
x
t 
to
 t
h
e
 a
c
tu
a
l 
d
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
 o
f 

th
e
 p
ro
p
e
rt
y
. 
 T
h
is
 i
s
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
ti
o
n
e
d
. 

T
a
b
it
h
a
 w
ill
 s
h
a
re
 a
 d
ra
ft
 v
e
rs
io
n
 w
it
h
 

th
e
 g
ro
u
p
. 

•
 
O
n
 g
o
in
g
 d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 n
e
e
d
e
d
 

re
g
a
rd
in
g
 s
c
o
o
te
rs
 a
n
d
 b
u
g
g
ie
s
. 
 

•
 
N
e
e
d
 b
u
y
 i
n
 o
f 
g
e
n
e
ra
l 
p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 

17



  

P
o
in
ts
 r
a
is
e
d
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 t
a
k
e
n
 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
A
c
ti
o
n
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 

in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
a
lw
a
y
s
 n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
?
 E
.g
. 
M
in
o
r 

A
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
s
. 
 

•
 
C
o
u
ld
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
b
u
lk
 b
u
y
 a
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
s
?
 

   

v
is
it
s
, 
tr
a
in
in
g
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 o
ff
ic
e
rs
 a
n
d
 

a
s
s
is
ti
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 p
a
p
e
rw
o
rk
. 

•
 
M
o
b
ili
ty
 S
y
m
b
o
ls
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
d
d
e
d
 t
o
 

th
e
 H
o
m
e
m
o
v
e
 m
a
g
a
z
in
e
. 

•
 
T
a
b
it
h
a
 i
s
 p
ro
o
f 
re
a
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 

H
o
m
e
m
o
v
e
 m
a
g
a
z
in
e
 r
e
 m
o
b
ili
ty
 w
ri
te
 

u
p
s
. 

•
 
T
a
b
it
h
a
 i
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 v
is
it
in
g
 a
ll 
th
e
 

s
h
e
lt
e
re
d
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 s
c
h
e
m
e
s
. 

•
 
O
c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
T
h
e
ra
p
is
t’
s
 a
re
 t
ra
in
in
g
 

s
ta
ff
 i
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 

a
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 m
o
b
ili
ty
 a
n
d
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 

a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 w
a
s
 t
h
is
 m
e
a
n
s
. 

•
 
T
a
b
it
h
a
 c
o
n
fi
rm
e
d
 p
o
lic
y
 t
h
a
t 

a
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 n
o
t 
b
e
 t
a
k
e
n
 o
u
t 
o
f 

a
 p
ro
p
e
rt
y
 u
n
le
s
s
 t
h
e
 e
q
u
ip
m
e
n
t 
/ 

a
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
 h
a
v
e
 r
e
a
c
h
e
d
 i
ts
 n
a
tu
ra
l 

e
n
d
 o
f 
lif
e
. 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 m
o
re
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 

c
o
u
n
c
il 
p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
 m
o
v
e
 t
o
w
a
rd
s
 

lif
e
ti
m
e
 h
o
m
e
s
 a
n
d
 m
o
v
e
 a
w
a
y
 f
ro
m
 

re
lia
n
c
e
 o
n
 t
h
e
 r
e
la
ti
v
e
ly
 s
m
a
ll 

a
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
s
 b
u
d
g
e
t.
 

 

 

18



HOUSING MANAGEMENT 
CONSULATIVE 
COMMITTEE 

Agenda Item 14 

Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

 

 

Subject: Adaptations and Allocations Focus Groups Update 

Date of Meeting: 22 July 2008 

Report of: Director of Adult Social Care & Housing 

Contact Officer: Name:  Martin Reid Tel: 29-3321 

 E-mail: Martin.reid@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Wards Affected: All  

 

FOR GENERAL RELEASE  

 

1. SUMMARY AND POLICY CONTEXT: 

  

1.1 Reports on the Chairman’s Working Groups on Allocations and Adaptations 
were presented to Housing Management Sub-Committee on 15 January 
2008. 

 

1.2 The Housing Management Sub-Committee noted the conclusions of the 
respective Working Groups and approved that these be taken forward as 
the basis for wider pieces of work to reflect ideas, solutions and suggestions 
outlined in the summary of findings. 

 

1.3 The Housing Management Sub-Committee was given an undertaking that 
progress would be reported back to tenant working group members and via 
a future Committee meeting. 

 

1.4 This report provides an update of the progress made following our report of 
15th January 2008. The report recommends that a final update report, 
including implementation of proposed policy changes, be considered in 
detail by the respective working groups prior to a final report being brought 
back to Housing Management Consultative Committee in the autumn. 

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS:  

2.1 That the Housing Management Consultative Committee note progress to date and 
that a full and final report will be brought back in Autumn 2008 to amend the 
Allocations Policy and incorporate an Adaptations Policy.  

 

19



 

 

3. RELEVANT BACKGROUND INFORMATION/CHRONOLOGY OF KEY 
EVENTS: 

 

3.1 Housing Management Sub-Committee considered a report on Housing and 
Adaptations in autumn 2007. This report outlined the existing and projected 
demand pressures in relation to adaptations and the constraints that 
currently frame our capacity to respond. The report proposed consultation 
on the development of an Adaptations Policy for those living in or seeking 
social housing and in parallel consideration of implications for and 
improvements to Allocations Policy. 

 

3.2 A key aim was to promote best use of resources in order to ensure that 
limited adaptations and housing resources are effectively invested and that 
this investment is being targeted at delivering more value for money. This 
includes making best use of available budget resources and of Council 
housing stock that of Registered Social Landlords and of other available 
housing options across the City. 

 

3.3 Housing Management Sub-Committee approved a tenant working group be 
set up to review Adaptations.  

 

3.4 In addition, an Allocations Working Group was also set up to review the 
operation of the Council’s housing Allocations Policy. One of the key areas 
for consideration by this group was the best use of adapted/accessible 
housing stock in the City and the effective assessment and management of 
applicant eligibility criteria in relation to this housing. In light of this, the 
Allocations Group ran in parallel to the Adaptations Group. Both groups 
were kept informed and contributed to the findings and recommendations of 
the other. 

 

3.5 A number of key themes emerged from the meetings which tenant 
representatives wished to see addressed. 

 

3.6 The themes that relate to progress reported in this paper included: 

 

3.7 Best use of stock and budget resources - The establishment of a 
detailed register of adapted, adaptable and accessible homes was seen as 
key. 

 

3.8 Allocations – Themes included the need for a detailed and up to date 
register of adapted and adaptable homes and more support with matching 
people with needs to suitable properties. In addition more should be done to 
encourage agreement to moves where tenants live in adapted homes they 
don’t need or require adaptations where homes aren’t easily adaptable. 

20



 

 

 

3.9 Assistance with moving – There was a strong feeling that more practical 
assistance be offered / provided with moving in order to assist people to find 
new property that meets their needs or can be quickly and easily adapted. 

 

3.10 Communication – the need for improved communication with tenants and 
tenant representatives was a central and consistent theme throughout the 
work of the Group. Better use of tenant local knowledge, more targeted and 
accessible information and promotion of initiatives (especially around under-
occupancy), and opportunities (new build and private sector housing) were 
key areas to be taken forward. 

 

3.11 Best use of housing resources – the need for more practical assistance 
for downsizing, use of tenant representatives to promote initiatives and 
better marketing of new and alternative housing opportunities were key 
themes.  

 

3.12 Adaptations – The work of the Adaptations Group was discussed and 
priorities shared with the Allocations Group. In particular, reassurance was 
sought over best use of adapted/accessible housing stock in the City and 
effective assessment and management of applicant eligibility criteria. 

 

3.13 Details of progress in these key areas made as a result of the work of the 
tenant focus groups are outlined below. 

 

3.14 Best use of new affordable housing. As part of developing a clear and 
transparent response to allocations and adaptations issues raised by 
tenants we aim to ensure we maximise the opportunities the new affordable 
housing in the city provides. One of our key objectives is to develop a mix of 
new affordable housing delivered through our development partnership with 
Registered Social Landlords ( RSLs ). Including a proportion of larger family 
sized homes ( 3 beds ) and fully wheelchair accessible homes to our 
adopted standard now set out in Planning Advice Note ( PAN 03 adopted 
Jan 2008) on Accessible Housing and Lifetime Homes. 

 

3.15 All new affordable homes for rent are advertised through Homemove and 
the wheelchair accessible homes ring fenced for households with a 
matching need. We have now developed and implemented a New Build 
Nominations Agreement with our RSL partners setting out our nomination 
rights and procedures including the requirement the RSL advertise all 
wheelchair accessible homes for rent 8 - 12 months before completion. 
Advertising these properties 'off plan' ensures they can be matched 
appropriately. It gives the Housing Allocations and Adaptations Service, 
Children’s & Young Peoples Trust (CYPT) and the RSL the opportunity to 
work together on the bespoke specification and agree those works that can 

21



 

 

be accommodated in the construction period. This reduces costs, 
preventing waste and avoiding delays after completion. 

 

3.16 To complement this Housing Development and Housing Adaptations 
Services have worked together to introduce a Protocol for the Letting of 
Accessible Homes. This is to ensure that all new affordable wheelchair 
accessible homes that meet the standard agreed by Brighton & Hove are 
advertised and matched appropriately making housing more accessible, 
and that Homemove has a positive impact on disability equality. 

 

3.17 Releasing more family and adapted homes. All households who are 
underoccupying family accommodation or require major adaptations are 
now being considered for how we may best encourage or enable them to 
move.  

 

3.18 The Transfer Incentive Scheme encourages tenants under-occupying a 
family-sized or wheelchair-adapted property to downsize, and so releasing 
this type of accommodation for those in housing need. Tenants receive 
assistance and support from a dedicated Under Occupation Officer funded 
from existing staffing resources. 

 

3.19 The Under Occupation Post has been a hugely successful. In 2007-8 we 
helped 81 people move from larger family homes, over twice the number 
released in the same period in 2006-7. All applicants get a home visit, a 
copy of the latest Homemove Magazine each fortnight and follow-up 
casework.  Following a publicity drive, 132 Tenants have now registered on 
the scheme. 

 

3.20 The Under Occupation Officer is now routinely involved in consideration of 
alternative housing options for those clients whose complex adaptations 
requirements are being reviewed by the Housing Adaptations Team. 

 

3.21 In addition we are actively looking at various ways to promote new housing 
opportunities effectively, for example by advertising private rented 
properties in the Home-move magazine and advertising new- build 
properties early. 

 

3.22 Accessible Housing Officer Role. As a direct result of consultation with 
the tenant working groups we have used existing resources to fund 
recruitment of an Accessible Housing Officer who has been in post since 
January of this year. The Accessible Housing Officer remit is to improve the 
way in which accessible and adapted properties are advertised and let in 
the City. This is being achieved by: 

 

22



 

 

3.23 Improving our understanding of the access needs of everybody on the Joint 
Housing Register; 

 

3.24 Undertaking an audit of Council-owned housing stock in terms of their 
accessibility and feasibility for adaptation; 

 

3.25 Providing a more equal service for Disabled applicants within Homemove 
through more informative advertising and prioritised allocation for mobility 
properties. 

 

3.26 Since January, over 1200 applicants have been individually assessed for 
their mobility level, including all applicants in Band A, and given one of four 
categories relating to their access requirements to match the mobility 
categories used in the Homemove magazine. As a result, we have 
identified, in band A alone, 90 households that require wheelchair 
accessible housing and 72 households that require a property with level 
access, to meet a mobility 3 standard. Homemove is currently working on 
all applicants in Band B, sending out the newly developed Self-Assessment 
Mobility Forms to capture the relevant information. In addition to the 
development of this self assessment form, the Accessibility section of the 
Joint Housing Register application form has been re-written to encourage 
the provision of more relevant information for the Homemove officers to be 
able to assess how someone’s disability is affecting their current housing. 

 

3.27 Properties advertised in the Homemove magazine as Mobility one, two and 
three are now clearly marked as such and priority is given to those with a 
matching requirement when short-listing. The Accessible Housing Officer 
has spent a great deal of time working with Housing and Lettings Officers 
within the Council and within the partner Housing Associations to ensure 
that relevant information and appropriate mobility categories are identified in 
the advert. 

 

3.28 The AHO has attended meetings, accompanied on home visits and assisted 
in training sessions to ensure that information about steps, lifts, current 
adaptations, geography and the location of shops is now provided for all 
properties, wherever possible. 

 

3.29 The AHO has also been undertaking individual access audits of all Council 
Sheltered Schemes, to improve the way in which we advertise some of 
these properties, particularly those that are hard to let. Visiting these 
schemes has also offered an excellent opportunity to meet some of the 
residents and receive feedback on their views about Homemove and their 
schemes, as well as to provide advice on adaptations and their Homemove 
applications. 

 

23



 

 

3.30 In addition, it was identified that some fully adapted properties were being 
advertised in the Homemove Magazine incorrectly.  This meant that it was 
difficult for disabled applicants to ‘bid’ appropriately for a property that might 
meet their needs.  As a result a two-day training session for 23 local 
authority and housing association staff was run by the Housing 
Occupational Therapy Team.  An accessible housing toolkit was produced 
to complement the training.  The standards of adverts going into the 
Homemove magazine has improved greatly, bids have increased and 
awareness raised of the issues disabled applicants face.  

 

3.31 The feedback on the training was excellent and as a result we intend to 
rollout this training to all housing management staff in the Council. Various 
Housing Associations are keen to undertake and extend the same training 
for more of their own staff. This will result in more understanding of the way 
in which housing impacts on the independence of Disabled people in the 
City. This training will also assist the officers in carrying out an accurate 
audit of all properties to ascertain, prior to the property becoming void, what 
level of access it can provide to the next tenant, thereby reducing void 
turnarounds and creating longer more secure tenancies in the long run. 

 

3.32 Housing Management Survey 

 

3.33 As a direct result of the work of the tenant working group a surveyor was 
appointed (using existing resources) to complete the following work: 

 

3.34 Checking the accuracy of adaptations data held on OHMS database. This 
was both a desk- top exercise and a manual audit with a sample of 10% of 
adapted properties selected for a visit (258 were visited with 98 not 
providing access). Data was found to be largely accurate. The mobility 
category of each of these properties was identified. In addition, properties 
with a mobility rating which, with additional work could be upgraded to a 
higher level i.e. 2 to 1, 3 to 2 were also identified. 

 

3.35 An accessibility audit of the City was also completed and areas identified 
which may lend themselves to be more suitable for adapted properties in 
the future. External audits on our sheltered housing stock were also 
completed. 

24



 

 

 

4. CONSULTATION 

  

 

4.1 The tenant-led focus groups identified areas for improvement in the Allocations 
Policy and development of an Adaptations Policy. We are in the process of 
consulting with stakeholders in the City over these proposals. Stakeholders 
include our communities of interest, our partner agencies, Age Concern, people 
on the Housing Register, support providers. The consultation is on going and 
feedback is coming in. Once the consultation is closed and all information 
compiled will go back to the tenant led focus groups and the proposed policy 
developments will be considered by Housing Management Consultative 
Committee and Housing Cabinet Member Meeting in the Autumn. 

 

5. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 

Financial Implications: 

 

 There are no direct financial implications arising from the recommendation 
made in this report. The capital resources available for Disabled Adaptations 
to housing stock is £888,440 for 2008/09 and this is forecast to be fully spent 
this financial year. 

 

Finance Officer Consulted: Michael Bentley Date: 8/7/08 

 

Legal Implications: 

 

 The council is entitled to have an adaptations policy and is statutorily required to 
have an allocation policy (Section 167 Housing Act 1996). The work described in 
the report will help develop robust policies for the future.  

 

Lawyer Consulted: Liz Woodley  Date: 8/7/08 

 

Equalities Implications: 

 

 An Equalities Impact Assessment will be carried out as part of the policy 
development process to inform the final report to Housing Management 
Consultative Committee and Housing Cabinet in the autumn. 

 As a result of the work reported above the standards of adverts going into the 
Homemove magazine has improved greatly, bids have increased and awareness 
raised of the issues disabled applicants face. We have sought to improve 
understanding of the way in which housing impacts on the independence of 
disabled people in the City and improve use of resources to better meet the needs 
of people who use a wheelchair or have restricted mobility. 

 

25



 

 

Sustainability Implications: 

 

 Housing is one of the 12 key objectives in the council’s Sustainability Strategy 
which aims ‘to ensure that everyone has access to decent affordable housing that 
meets their needs’. 

 The developments outlined in this report seek to make best use of existing 
housing and budget resources and promote lifetime homes. Further sustainability 
implications will be kept under review for future reports. 

 

Crime & Disorder Implications:  

 

5.5 There are no direct implications arising from this report. 

 

Risk and Opportunity Management Implications:  

 

 Development of policy in this area will be undertaken with due regard to 
appropriate risk assessment requirements. 

 

Corporate / Citywide Implications: 

 

 The aims of the focus groups and the improvements outlined in this report 
support the priorities and aims of the 2020 Community Strategy and Council 
strategic goals of improving housing in the City and ensuring that residents have a 
healthy living environment. 

 

6. EVALUATION OF ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTION(S):  

  

6.1 None considered for the purposes of this update report. 

 

7. REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

  

7.1 The report is to note. Reasons are contained within the body of the report.  

26



 

 

 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 

Appendices: 

 

1.None 

 

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

 

1.None 

 

Background Documents 

 

1.Chairman’s Working Group (Allocations) Housing Management Sub-Committee report 
15 January 2008. 

 

2. Chairman’s Working Group (Adaptations) Housing Management Sub-Committee 
report 15 January 2008. 

 

27



28



HOUSING MANAGEMENT 
CONSULTATIVE 
COMMITTEE        

Agenda Item 15 
Brighton & Hove City Council 

  

 

 

Subject: Housing Green Paper Options Review 

Date of Meeting: 22 July 2008 

Report of: Director of Adult Social Care and Housing 

Contact Officer: Name:  Martin Reid Tel: 29-3321      

 E-mail: Martin.reid@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Wards Affected: All  

 

FOR GENERAL RELEASE 

 

1. SUMMARY AND POLICY CONTEXT: 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update Housing Management Consultative 
Committee on the council’s review of options in the Government’s Housing 
Green Paper Homes for the Future: more affordable, more sustainable, with 
the support of external financial and legal expertise from Pricewaterhouse 
Coopers (PwC) and Trowers & Hamlins (Trowers). Stage 1 – the detailed 
assessment of options for meeting the council’s strategic objectives and 
development of a proposal for the council to set up a viable Local Delivery 
Vehicle (LDV) that meets these objectives – has now been completed. 

 

1.2 The joint analysis undertaken by PwC and Trowers concludes that there is a 
range of workable options for an LDV to meet the council’s corporate priorities 
and strategic housing objectives. Financial modelling undertaken by PwC 
indicates there is the potential for a viable business model which could raise up 
to £45 million for the Housing Revenue Account (HRA).  

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 

  

(1) That the Housing Management Consultative Committee note the progress of 
this project, which aims to deliver key strategic housing and corporate priorities 
and generate funding for investment in the HRA.  

   

(2) That the Housing Management Consultative Committee recommend that  the 
Housing Cabinet Member approves to proceed to the proposed development and 
finalisation phases of Stage 2 of this review and authorises the Director of Adult 
Social Care and Housing to take all steps necessary to progress the work.  

 

           Cont’d 

29



  

 

(3) That the Housing Management Consultative Committee note that any decision to 
implement the finalised proposals would be made by Cabinet and the Committee 
further note the provisional outline timetable to set up any asset-backed LDV, as 
outlined in section 3.17 of this report.  

 

(4)  That the Housing Management Consultative Committee note the proposed 
consultation arrangements with tenant and leaseholder representatives before 
the Cabinet takes any final decision to establish an LDV, as outlined in section 4 
of this report.  

 

3. RELEVANT BACKGROUND INFORMATION/CHRONOLOGY OF KEY 
EVENTS: 

 

3.1 Following the outcome of the tenants’ stock transfer ballot, officers have 
reviewed strategic housing options to reflect the decision that the stock will be 
retained by the council. The objectives for this review are: 

 
(1) To obtain best value from assets; 
 
(2) To bring in additional investment; 
 
(3) To meet housing need: 
 
(4) To promote regeneration; and 
 
(5) To assist with meeting Decent Homes.  

 

3.2 Given tenants’ overwhelming rejection of the stock transfer proposal, the council 
is also very clear there should be: 

 
(1) No RSL involvement; 
 
(2) No freehold transfer; and  
 
(3) No transfer of tenanted properties. 

 

3.3 In parallel, the Government has been setting out various options for local 
authorities to play a stronger role in addressing the housing needs of all 
their residents. The Housing Green Paper Homes for the Future: more 
affordable, more sustainable, published by the Department for Communities 
and Local Government in July 2007, outlines various types of local delivery 
or similar special purpose vehicle councils could set up to make the most of 
existing homes and land to lever in investment. Fourteen councils are in the 
process of creating Local Housing Companies with government support via 
English Partnerships and another 14 Community Land Trusts are also being 
piloted. 

 

30



  

3.4 In light of that consultation paper, and in response to notices of motion to 
Policy & Resources Committee in November 2007 concerning Community 
Land Trusts, Housing Management Sub-Committee, Housing Committee 
and Policy & Resources Committee were updated on the range of 
opportunities offered in the Housing Green Paper.  

 

3.5 On 11 March 2008 Housing Management Sub-Committee noted: 

 

(1) the range of options and opportunities offered in the Housing Green paper 
and that these were to be examined in detail in order to ascertain whether a 
sustainable case could be made for further development in order to support 
strategic housing and other priorities in the City; 

 

(2)  that external financial and legal advice was being sought in order to support 
officers to undertake detailed analysis of the practicalities of taking forward 
any Housing Green Paper options or opportunities; and 

 

(3)  that the Chairman of Housing was committed to ensuring that a detailed 
report on this analysis of options be brought forward through the council 
decision making process and the case made to enable the further 
development of any appropriate model. 

 

3.6 PwC and Trowers successfully tendered in a competitive procurement process 
and were appointed as financial and legal advisers for Stage 1. Their role is to 
support officers in the assessment of options with their specialist expertise and 
financial modelling. Both firms have extensive experience of advising local 
authorities on setting up LDVs to meet their housing priorities. They also liaise 
directly with government departments on the new models being developed to 
access funding for investment in housing without the need to use (or transfer 
stock to) RSLs.  

  

3.7 The council’s brief set out the objectives for the review, together with the 
requirement that there should be no RSL involvement, no freehold transfer and 
no transfer of tenanted properties (see paragraphs 3.1 and 3.2 above). In 
addition, the council would work within the limit under the relevant legislation of 
letting an LDV use a maximum of 499 empty properties over a five year period.  

 

3.8 PwC and Trowers’ analysis of the options and opportunities referred to in 
the Housing Green Paper started with an assessment against key criteria to 
filter out those options which are not appropriate to meet the council’s 
current objectives. Those options which are not suitable for the proposed 
scale of the project were discounted at this stage. This analysis and the 
criteria used are detailed in Appendix 1.  

3.9 After consideration, Community Land Trusts (CLTs) were not recommended 
as the appropriate initial vehicle. The primary purpose of CLTs is to hold 
land and other assets to promote social, economic and environmental 

31



  

sustainability of a specified local geographical community, usually at 
neighbourhood level. Increased land value is retained and reused by the 
CLT for the benefit of its community. Members of the CLT would normally 
be drawn from the local community, as would a significant proportion of the 
board, and the CLT would report to the local community and be accountable 
to it in a variety of ways. As investment is required across the council’s 
stock, it would be difficult to create the local geographic focus that is 
suggested for a CLT at this time. However, three potential options were 
identified for including CLTs at a later date and these are outlined in 
Appendix 1. 

 

3.10 The advisers concluded that there is a range of workable options for an 
LDV to meet the council’s objectives, including a variety of both potential 
delivery structures and of the legal form an LDV could take. In particular, 
advice has been received on local authority control over the LDV which 
would impact on the classification, powers to facilitate the setting up of an 
LDV, the benefits and restrictions of charitable status and procurement and 
contracting issues. There are a number of choices which the council can 
make as to the LDV’s set up and relationship with the council, which would 
be taken during Stage 2 of the review.  

 

3.11 Financial modelling indicates a proposed business model could be viable. 
The model is based on the council initially leasing to the LDV 106 HRA units 
currently used for Temporary Accommodation, followed by up to a 
maximum of 393 empty HRA properties over a 5 year period. The model 
includes a payment by the LDV to the council of c. £92,000 per property 
leased, a total capital receipt of up to £45 million into the HRA. This receipt 
would be exempt from the government’s pooling of housing capital receipts 
regime provided the council passes a resolution to use the receipt for 
affordable housing - which could include improvements to existing HRA 
stock - or for regeneration projects. 

 

3.12 The Temporary Accommodation units are scattered street properties owned by 
the HRA, many having shared facilities and high maintenance and repair 
requirements. They are currently occupied by non-secure tenants, whose 
tenancy lasts around six months on average. Other HRA properties which may 
be identified as suitable for leasing could include units currently held empty due 
to the need for funding for major repairs. Leasing of any HRA properties would 
require the consent of the Secretary of State and full Council.  

 

3.13 The maximum number of units for leasing to an LDV over a five year period 
would represent only 4% of HRA stock and a small proportion of turnover of 
affordable social rented housing in the city; by way of illustration, 782 council 
homes were let in the last financial year (excluding Temporary Accommodation). 
In addition, the city’s supply of affordable rented housing is projected to increase 
by over 500 new properties over the coming four years, subject to planning 
consent etc., plus other social housing development in the pipeline for that 
period. 

 

32



  

3.14 As well as providing funding for the HRA, the model includes provision for the 
LDV to refurbish the leased properties. The refurbished leased stock would be 
used to provide a stable supply of good quality accommodation to homeless 
households and other clients for whom the council has a duty to provide housing, 
from the Children and Young People’s Trust, Learning Disabilities and Adult 
Social Care. The council would have nomination rights to the leased properties 
and there is an option for the council to be the landlord for a proportion of these 
tenancies, under a leaseback scheme. 

 

3.15 In conclusion, Stage 1 of the review indicates that there is potentially an 
economically viable, legally robust way of achieving the council’s objectives 
while working within the parameters set – in particular, that there should be 
no freehold transfer, no RSL involvement or transfer of tenanted stock. The 
proposed model could deliver: 

- up to £45 million capital receipts to the HRA;  

- funding to refurbish leased stock; and 

- a stable supply of temporary accommodation for homeless households and 
other groups for whom the council has a duty to provide housing. 

 

3.16 The practicalities of taking forward any Housing Green Paper options have 
been analysed and a sustainable case has been made for further 
development of this model in order to support strategic housing and other 
priorities in the city. The next step is to progress this work to enable the 
council to select a structure and vehicle tailor made to fit the council’s 
specific financial circumstances and strategic objectives.  

 

3.17 The provisional timetable for Stage 2 of the project is to develop and finalise the 
proposals over the summer and early autumn, after rigorous testing of 
assumptions and assessment of the impact on the LDV, HRA and General Fund. 
Housing Management Consultative Committee and Area Panels are to be 
consulted on the finalised proposal in the autumn, prior to the Cabinet taking the 
final decision whether to establish an LDV later this financial year.  

 

4. CONSULTATION 

 

4.1 The Leader of the council has stated her commitment to openness and 
transparency with tenants on proposals for the future of the housing stock. 
The proposal to review Housing Green Paper options was presented to and 
agreed by Housing Management Sub-Committee at its meeting on 11 
March 2008, with tenant representatives in attendance. 

 

4.2 The comments of the Housing Management Consultative Committee on this 
report, together with the outcome of the Stage 1 review, will be taken into 
account at the meeting of the Cabinet Member for Housing on 22 July 2008. 

 

33



  

4.3 Area Panels and the Housing Management Consultative Committee will be 
consulted on finalised proposals before approval is sought to set up, or 
lease any council stock to, any LDV. 

 

5. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 

 Financial Implications: 
 

5.1 The Base case financial model and business case developed as part of 
Stage 1 includes a number of key assumptions. These assumptions, which 
include asset values, conversion costs, revenue flows, funding costs and 
operational costs will need to be vigorously tested and refined to establish a 
final business case that is sufficiently robust to be used to secure 
competitive commercial funding for the LDV. This work will form part of the 
Stage 2 process should the Cabinet Member for Housing agree to proceed 
to the next stage. 

 

The Stage 1 financial model is based on the council granting 125 year 
leases to the LDV with the option of a break clause after 30 years. The 
model projects debt outstanding at 30 years of c £40 million. The LDV 
would therefore need to refinance the outstanding debt at year 30. 

 

Key project risks identified by PwC and Trowers will be fully assessed in the 
course of Stage 2. 

 

Peter Sargent, Loans and Technical Manager, Strategic Finance 
 

 Legal Implications: 
 

5.2 The recommendations in this report require the progress to date on seeking a 
suitable LDV model to be noted. The LDV model selected during Stage 2 will not 
proceed to implementation without consultation with tenants and Cabinet 
approval, thus at this stage there are no further legal implications arising from the 
report itself. The Council must take the Human Rights Act into account in respect 
of its actions but it is not considered that any individual’s Human Rights Act rights 
would be adversely affected by the recommendations in this report 

 

 Alison Leitch, Contract Lawyer 

 

 Equalities Implications: 
 

5.3 There are no direct equalities implications to this report. Eventual actions in 
regard to the Housing Green Paper will be taken with regard to equalities 
issues.  

 

 Sustainability Implications: 
 

5.4 The proposal to pursue the setting up of an LDV, enabling access to 
funding to refurbish properties and meet strategic housing needs, would 

34



  

contribute to achieving the following council priorities to address 
sustainability as an integral part of all service delivery and contribute to the 
UK's Sustainable Development Strategy: 

(1) Sustainable Consumption and Production - considering the impact of 
products and materials across a whole life cycle; 

(2) Climate Change and Energy - greater fuel efficiency and reduction in CO2 
emissions;  

(3) Sustainable Communities - using engagement and partnership to reduce 
poverty and environmental degradation. 

 

 Crime & Disorder Implications:  
 

5.5 There are no implications for crime and disorder. 
 

 Risk and Opportunity Management Implications:  
 

5.6 Risks and opportunities will be fully assessed when proposals are finalised 
during Stage 2. Key project risks include appropriate consents, availability 
of funding, EU procurement, interest rates, rental income and demand. 

 

 Corporate / Citywide Implications: 
 

5.7 The outline proposal for setting up an LDV giving access to funding to 
refurbish up to 499 properties in need of investment would support the 
following council corporate priorities: 

(1) protect the environment whilst growing the economy; 

(2)  make better use of public money; 

(3) reduce inequality by improving opportunities; 

(4) open and effective city leadership. 
 

5.8 The impact on the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account will be fully 
worked through in detail during Stage 2. 

 

 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

Appendices: 

1. Stage 1: Analysis of Housing Green Paper options 
 

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

None 

 

35



36



HOUSING MANAGEMENT CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE 

      

Housing Green Paper Options Review             Appendix 1 

 

Stage 1: Analysis of Housing Green Paper options 

 

1. PwC and Trowers started their analysis of the options and opportunities 
referred to in the Housing Green Paper with an assessment against key 
criteria to filter out those options which are not appropriate to meet the 
council’s current objectives.  Those options which are not suitable for the 
proposed scale of the project and were therefore discounted at this stage 
are as follows: 

 

(1) Urban Regeneration Companies, which are focused on specific geographic 
areas in economic decline.  

 

(2) Urban Development Corporations (UDCs), which are non departmental 
public bodies established under the Local Government Planning and Land 
Act 1980 with a broad remit to secure the regeneration of their designated 
areas. 

 

(3) City Development Companies, which relate to city or city-region wide 
economic development. 

 

(4) Single Estate Transformation Models, which focus on estates and the 
establishment of sustainable mixed communities. This would be likely to 
involve selective demolition; provision of new housing supply for home-
ownership, market sale and low-cost home ownership; social rented and 
possibly council housing. Provision of new local infrastructure would also be 
likely, such as a community centre, health centre, recreational facilities and 
open space.   

 

(5) Community Land Trusts (CLTs) were not recommended as the appropriate 
initial vehicle due to their very local geographic focus. The primary purpose 
of CLTs is to hold land and other assets to promote social, economic and 
environmental sustainability of a specified local geographical community, 
usually at neighbourhood level. Increased land value is retained and reused 
by the CLT for the benefit of its community.  Members of the CLT would 
normally be drawn form the local community, as would a significant 
proportion of the board, and the CLT would report to the local community 
and be accountable to it in a variety of ways.  As investment is required 
across the council’s stock, it would be difficult to create the local geographic 
focus that is suggested for a CLT. However, three possible options were 
identified for including CLTs into an LDV structure at a later date, set out in 
section 5 below. 

37



HOUSING MANAGEMENT CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE 

      

2. Temporary to Settled Homes initiatives, which use rental income to repay 
borrowing that has been used to buy a home instead of going to a private 
landlord to pay for renting a property as temporary accommodation, were 
identified as possibly achievable but more difficult to deliver than some of 
the other viable options.    

 
3. Local housing companies, local authority-owned companies, limited liability 

partnerships and strategic housing and regeneration partnerships met the 
initial assessment against key criteria and were then subjected to a more 
detailed analysis. 

 

Assessment of LDV options 
against key criteria 

L
o
c
a
l 
H

o
u
s
in

g
 C

o
m

p
a
n
y
 

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 L

a
n
d
 T

ru
s
t 

L
o
c
a
l 
A

u
th

o
ri
ty

 -
O

w
n
e
d
 C

o
m

p
a
n
y
 

L
im

it
e
d
 L

ia
b
ili

ty
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 H
o
u
s
in

g
 a

n
d
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

U
rb

a
n
 R

e
g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 C

o
m

p
a
n
y
 

S
p
e
c
ia

l 
V

e
n
tu

re
 V

e
h
ic

le
 

U
rb

a
n
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
C

o
rp

o
ra

ti
o
n
 

C
it
y
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

C
o
m

p
a
n
y
 

S
in

g
le

 E
s
ta

te
 T

ra
n
s
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 

M
o
d
e
l 
 

T
e
m

p
o
ra

ry
 t
o
 s

e
tt
le

d
 i
n
it
ia

ti
v
e
s
 

Suitable for proposed scale of 
project 

ü ● ü ü ü û ü û û û ü 

Flexible and adaptable to meet 
future strategic objectives 

ü n/a ü ü ü n/a ü n/a n/a n/a ü** 

Potential to help meet current 
investment gap 

ü n/a ü ü ü n/a ü n/a n/a n/a ü 

Capable of raising finance ü n/a ü ü ü n/a ü n/a n/a n/a ü** 

Able to support refurbishment 
costs to meet required 
standards 

ü n/a ü ü ü n/a ü n/a n/a n/a ü 

Flexible to meet Council’s 
responsibilities to a diverse 
range of client groups 

ü n/a ü ü ü n/a ü n/a n/a n/a ü 

Enables fast delivery of project ü n/a ü ü ü n/a ü n/a n/a n/a ü** 

Complementary to other 
Council strategic polices (e.g. 
Procurement) 

ü n/a ü ü ü n/a ü n/a n/a n/a ü 

Within Council’s powers ü n/a ü ü* ü n/a ü n/a n/a n/a ü 

Capable of satisfying VFM ü n/a ü ü ü n/a ü n/a n/a n/a ü 

 

Legend 

●      This option has not been taken forward at this stage, but it has the potential for consideration in future projects. 

• The council cannot set up the LDV as a Limited Liability Partnership solely to take advantage of this type of legal 
structure’s potential tax efficiency. 

**     This option may be achievable but could be more difficult to deliver than some of the other viable options. 

38



HOUSING MANAGEMENT CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE 

      

4. The proposed structure would be based on the following, with the council 
deciding on the legal form of the vehicle and whether it would be a charity 
during the course of Stage 2 of the review.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 An alternative structure with a leaseback arrangement would be as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5. The above structures and options would not preclude a CLT being 
introduced to play a part in the future. Three possible ways of bringing a 
CLT into the structure in the future were identified, as follows: 

 

(1) Passing on the council’s freehold interest in leased properties to a CLT, leaving 
the LDV in place. This could be made difficult by funding issues and the LDV 
inhibiting the CLT’s ability to exercise its community role. 

 

(2) Converting the LDV to a CLT. This could be impractical if the LDV’s stock is 
scattered. 

 

(3) Passing the lease or a sub-lease on to one or more CLTs, which would become 
the landlord of the properties.  This seems the most practicable option and it 
would be possible for the main lease between the council and LDV to permit sub-
leases to CLTs. 

 

 

Loan Finance 

  

Payment 

for leases 
  

Nomination   Management 
  Rights           Agreement? 

  

Council

 

LDV

 
Refurbishment 

Contract

 

   LDV Tenancies 
 

Dwellings 

leased to 

LDV 
  

 

 

 

Management and 

Maintenance 

Contract

 

  
  

Funder
 

 

Loan Finance 

  

Payment 

for leases 
  

Nomination   Management 
  Rights           Agreement? 

  

Council

 

LDV

 
Refurbishment 

Contract

 

 LDV Tenancies
 

Dwellings 

leased to 

LDV 
  

Non secure council 

tenancies  

 

 

Management and 

Maintenance 

Contract

 

Leaseback 

of 

dwellings 
  

Funder
 

39



40



HOUSING MANAGEMENT 
CONSULTATIVE 
COMMITTEE  

Agenda Item 16 

Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

 

Subject: Tender of a Contract for the Provision of a Security 
Wheel Clamping Service within Brighton & Hove 

Date of Meeting: 22 July 2008 

Report of: Director of Adult Social Care & Housing 

Contact Officer: Name:  David Rook 

Head of Housing Management 
(Central) 

Tel: 29-3271 

 E-mail: david.rook@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Wards Affected: All  

FOR GENERAL RELEASE 

 

1. SUMMARY AND POLICY CONTEXT:  

1.1 That the Housing Management Consultative Committee are invited to 
comment on the proposal to request permission to tender for a contract to 
provide a secure clamping service for Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
managed car parking and garage areas let to licence holders. Permission is 
also sought that other directorates who would benefit from clamping on their 
land, for example office car parks, could use the service. 

1.2 Clamping is currently used to protect 25 HRA parking sites as a deterrent to 
stop other drivers parking illegally. Other departments have also expressed an 
interest in utilising clamping to protect their own sites, for example Property 
and Design. 

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS:  

(1) That the Housing Management Consultative Committee endorse the tendering 
for a Security Wheel Clamping Service within Brighton & Hove. This will enable 
these services to commence on 31 January 2009. 

(2) That the comments of the Housing Management consultative Committee are 
recommended to the Housing Cabinet Member Meeting. 

3. RELEVANT BACKGROUND INFORMATION/CHRONOLOGY OF KEY 
EVENTS: 

3.1 Clamping was introduced as a pilot scheme to HRA managed car parks in  
2004 in order to address the continued problems experienced by residents  
who were renting spaces from the council but were frequently unable to  
access them due to illegally parked vehicles.  

41



  

 

3.2 The pilot scheme was initially set up to run for one year. To date 25 housing  
sites have clamping provision, each one being set up in consultation with  
local residents associations. 
 

3.3 Clamping has proven to be the most cost effective and efficient way of  
providing secure parking and has enabled the Housing Management  
division’s Car Parks & Garages team to maximise income from many centrally 
located parking areas by ensuring that those who pay for their spaces are 
able to access them. 
 

3.4 It has become apparent in recent months that there are other areas of the city  
that would benefit from inclusion in the clamping contract. As this current  
contract has been running for several years it is the right time to re tender in  
order to secure a well managed and cost efficient service for the council as a  
whole. 

 

3.5 The existing contract for clamping on HRA land was terminated in November 
2007 when the Clamping Contractor (SIG) withdrew services from the 
Brighton Area. There is an ad-hoc service currently in place which is provided 
by Guardian. This will be terminated once this contract has been awarded. 

 

3.6 The proposed tender evaluation will be split 60/40. This split represents the 
quality of the service and the charges made to vehicle owners who are 
clamped, respectively. 

 

3.7 The proposed contract will not provide clamping on public highways where 
parking enforcement is contracted out to NCP. It would instead be used to 
control parking on council owned sites such as car parking areas attached to 
offices and HRA land.  

 

3.8 The proposed contract period is three years with an option to extend for a 

further one year at the council’s discretion.  

 

3.9 All contractors are required to be registered with the Security Industry 
Authority and operatives applying clamps are required to hold an individual 
license from under the terms of the Private Security Authority Act 2001. 

 

42



  

3.10 The timetable for procurement and implementation of the contract is shown 
below. The contract would therefore be in place on 31 January 2009. 
 

Task Duration (days) Start Date 

Place Adverts in relevant journals 1  11/09/08 

Receipt of expressions of interest 30 12/09/08 

Evaluation of expressions of 
interest 

15 13/10/08 

Send out Tender Documentation 1 29/10/08 

Receipt of Tenders 31 30/10/08 

Evaluate Tenders 15 01/12/08 

Award of contract 1 16/12/08 

Handover period 45 17/12/08 
 

3.11 This report was considered earlier this year by Housing & City Support DMT, 
TMT and P & R Chairs. Immediately before P & R Committee on 6 March 
2008 a number of questions were raised by Councillors. It was 
felt prudent to withdraw the report in order to allow time to answers to those 
questions. Those questions related to: 

 

q Consideration of an in-house clamping team (see Section 6) 
q The appeals process (see below) 
q The proposed release fee (see below) 
q Concerns that the current contractor has been involved in the 

tender specification and may bid for the contract (see below) 

 

43



  

 

3.12 Appeals Process  
The current appeals process in the existing contract and in the draft contract  
specification has been agreed through the Car Parks and Garages Working  
Group. The group consists of 8 elected tenant and leaseholder 
representatives across the city.  

 

3.13 In the first instance the complainant is required to appeal directly to the 
clamping company as they are in a position to investigate the matter. The 
contractor uses the appeal system as an opportunity to check that their patrol 
officers are carrying out the immobilisation of vehicles according to agreed 
policies and procedures and those of the client, in this case Brighton & Hove 
City Council. 

 

3.14 Under the current arrangements Guardian have an appeals panel made up of  
four staff members including the Company Director who meet on a weekly 
basis to discuss any appeals that have been received. This meeting  
considers appeals across all managed sites and not just those belonging to 
Brighton & Hove City Council. The evidence from each particular clamping 
incident is reviewed including timed photographs of the vehicle. These cover  
the time it was discovered and the time of clamping; their decision is based on 
this evidence and the circumstances surrounding the incident in question. A  
letter confirming the outcome is then sent directly to the claimant. 
 

3.15 For Housing Management sites and in instances where the appeal has been 
turned down the letter from Guardian contains the following paragraph:  
 
If you are unhappy with the outcome of your appeal you can make a formal 
complaint to Brighton & Hove City Council. The address to write to is Brighton 
and Hove City Council Standards and Complaints Team FREEPOST 
SEA2560 BRIGHTON BN1 1ZW or by email to complaints@brighton-
hove.gov.uk'. 
 

3.16 Once the complaint is received a further investigation is undertaken including 
requesting copies of all documentation, timings and photographic evidence 
from the clamping company. Thereafter a decision as to whether the clamp 
was applied in accordance with the contract and Housing Management’s 
arrangements with the contractors. The decision to clamp will either be upheld 
or rebuked. If it is rebuked the clamping charge is refunded in full. If the 
vehicle owner is not happy with the response at this stage they may escalate 
their complaint to Stage 2 of the corporate complaints procedure and can 
ultimately request an Ombudsman enquiry.  

 

3.17 On balance it is important that the contractor initially reviews if the clamp was 
applied correctly and only after that is the independent review carried out by a 
council officer. 

 

44



  

3.18 The Proposed Release Fee 

The proposed release fee has also been agreed by the Car Parks and 
Garages Working Group and will initially remain at the current level of £100. 
There will be scope within the contract to raise the release fee to £125, which 
is in accordance with recommendations from the British Parking Association. 

 

3.19 Consultation with Guardian in Drawing up the Contract Specification 

Concerns were expressed that the previous report (Section 4) refers to 
Guardian being involved in the consultation process. This is perhaps an 
erroneous statement and apologies are offered for any confusion officers may 
have caused. Guardian were brought in to provide a clamping service to 
Housing sites after the original contractors, Security International Group, 
withdrew from the Brighton area at very short notice in November 2007.  

 

3.20 At that time Housing Management were already considering retendering the 
contract and had a new draft contract in place. This had been agreed 
internally and by the Tenant and Leaseholder Car Parks and Garages 
Working Group. Guardian were asked for their views on the new contract and 
any operational issues it may have raised. No changes were made to the draft 
contract specification as a result of this discussion. Guardian have not been 
involved in the writing of the contract or been consulted in any way other than 
described.  

 

 

4. CONSULTATION 

4.1 
Consultation is currently underway with a view to determining: 

 

q A specification with quality criteria which meets stakeholder 
needs 

q Evaluation criteria and weighting for determining the most 
economically advantageous tender (an appropriate mix of cost 
and quality) 

 

4.2 
Those who have been, or who are, involved in the consultation process 
include: 

 

q Current contractor 
q Similar Local Authorities 
q Stakeholders – Car Parks & Garages Working Group (made up 

of tenants and leaseholder representatives and council staff). 

 

45



  

 

43 Other departments who have expressed an interest in joining this contract 
include Housing Strategy, Adult Social Care and Property and Design. 
Examples of the sites where clamping would be desirable include the car park 
attached to offices at 86 Denmark Villas, Hove; New Steine Hostel, Brighton; 
commercially let car parking spaces in Chapel Street, Brighton. 

 

5. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS:  

Financial Implications: 

5.1 There will be no direct costs to the council in operating a security wheel 
clamping service, the contract will be funded by the contractor keeping the 
revenue generated by the service. There will be some internal staff time 
required to manage the contract but this will be absorbed within existing 
staffing resources. This is a 3-year contract with the option to extend for a 
further 1 year.  

 

The contract will allow the Housing Revenue Account to maximise the income 
from its car parks, as the service will minimise illegal parking.  

 

Finance Officer Consulted: Monica Brooks, Principal Accountant   Date: 31 
March 2008 

 

Legal Implications: 

 

5.2 Despite the zero value of this contract to the council, it should be tendered in 
accordance with a contract that is above the EU threshold for services 
contracts. The procurement strategy and the procurement timetable as set out 
in the report comply with both the EU procurement legislation and the 
council’s Contract Standing Orders. The council must also take the Human 
Rights Act 1998 into account in respect of its actions, but it is not considered 
that any individual’s Human Rights would be adversely affected by the 
recommendations in this report. 
 
Section 21(1) of the Housing Act 1985 empowers councisl to control parking 
on HRA land. (Akumah -v- Hackney LBC)  
 

Lawyer consulted: Alison Leitch       Date: 25 May 2007 

 

46



  

 

Equalities Implications: 

 

5.3 An equalities impact assessment has not been carried out on the current 
clamping service. 

 

Sustainability Implications: 

 

5.4 There are no direct sustainability implications. 

 

Crime & Disorder Implications:   

 

5.5 Car parking is often a contentious issue and can lead to disorder when a 
resident cannot access the space for which they are paying. Clamping will 
ensure there is a real deterrent to prevent illegal parking, particularly for 
spaces that are let and managed by Housing Management. 

 

Risk and Opportunity Management Implications:  

 

5.6 The Key Risks are: - 

¨ Failure to let the contract 
¨ Failure to provide the service and protect licence holders spaces 
¨ Failure to manage this contract effectively leading to complaints 
¨ Failure to maximise income for housing management in terms of 

unprotected spaces being unlet. 

 

Corporate / Citywide Implications: 

 

5.7 The contract supports the council's need to supply parking for specific workers 
and service providers through the council as well as in HRA owned car parks. 
The contract will not be used to protect the public highway. 

 

 

47



  

 

6. EVALUATION OF ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTION(S): 

 

6.1 Consideration of an in-house bid 
 
The council does not have an in-house clamping team. This service has  
always been contracted out to a professional clamping company. Although  
there has not been full consideration of the legal, practical and financial issues 
 in setting up an in-house unit it is not felt such a team, dealing with council  
owned car parks, would be the most cost effective way to provide clamping  
protection where it is required. This is because the clamping contractors are 
 required to provide: a 24-hour service for 365 days of the year; vehicles;  
towing facilities; signage; vehicle storage facilities; equipment; insurance; fuel; 
personnel; management support; training. The overheads are likely to be far  
higher than the income from this single contract. There is then a requirement 
 to attract an existing company that can add B&HCC sites to its current  
operation and benefit from economies of scale which would not be available 
to an in-house team.  

 

6.2 To help illustrate this point the basic costs of leasing a van and providing a 24 
 hour service using scale 4 operatives are shown below. These costs do not  
include the various other expenses set out above. 
 
 

 
Cost of leasing a van    £2,448 
Costs for front line personnel   £131,184* 

 
* This includes the council’s responsibilities in terms of National Insurance 
and pension contributions. It also takes account of enhancements set out in 
the green book, which confirms: 
 
¨ Time and a third is paid for working between 8.00 pm and 6.00 am 

 
¨ Time and half is paid for working weekends and bank holidays 

 

6.3 It is estimated that current contract covering Housing Revenue Account sites 
will generate an income of £64,000 per year. There is some interest from 
other departments to introduce clamping and there are opportunities to 
maximise income. It is not known how many new sites would be included if a 
corporate clamping scheme were introduced or how much income will be 
generated. From the illustration above it is evident that the income would 
need to be more than double for an in-house team to break even. There is 
then an inherent risk that such a team could be a financial burden to both the 
HRA and the General Fund, at least in the early years when the scheme is 
expanding. 
 

48



  

6.4 If the proposals contained in this report are agreed the council may wish to 
revisit an in-house team towards the end of the contract. This would allow the 
successful contractor to take on the risks of maximising income to the point 
where an in-house team could take over and enjoy a profit. 
 

 

7. REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

7.1 To continue to protect car parking spaces that are let and managed by the 
HRA on HRA land 

 

7.2 To allow other department to benefit from a clamping service. 

 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

Appendices: 

There are none 

 

 

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

1.  

2.  

 

Background Documents 

There are none 

 

 

49



50



HOUSING MANAGEMENT 
CONSULTATIVE 
COMMITTEE 

Agenda Item 17 

Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

 

Subject: Housing Strategy 2008-2013:  

healthy homes, healthy lives, healthy city 

Date of Meeting: 22 July 2008 

REPORT OF: Director of Adult Social Care & Housing 

Contact Officer: Name:  Andy Staniford Tel: 29-3159 

 E-mail: andy.staniford@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Wards Affected:  All 

 

FOR GENERAL RELEASE 

 

1. SUMMARY AND POLICY CONTEXT: 

1.1 This report is focussed on the development of the draft Housing Strategy and 
the draft specialist housing strategies relating to Older People, the city’s BME 
(Black and Minority Ethnic) communities and the city’s LGBT (Lesbian, Gay, 
Bisexual and Trans) communities.  

 

1.2 Development of these strategies began in 2007 to replace the previous 
Strategy that was developed in 2001 and updated in 2004. This report is to 
inform Housing Management Consultative Committee (HMCC) of the strategic 
development process and invite their participation in upcoming consultation. 

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 

2.1 That the Housing Management Consultative Committee note the progress on 
the development of the city-wide Housing Strategy 2008–2013 and the 
consultation undertaken to date. 

2.2 To engage Housing Management Consultative Committee and tenant 
representatives in detailed consultation / review of the draft Housing Strategy, 
Older People’s Housing Strategy, BME Housing Strategy and LGBT Housing 
Strategy. 

 

3. RELEVANT BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 

3.1 Our last housing strategy was developed in 2001 and updated in 2004. The 
development of our new housing strategy began in 2007. 

 

3.2 To ensure our services are working together as effectively as possible, the 
development of the new housing strategy has been the springboard for a larger 
strategy development and consultation review. This review is covering 8 key 
strategy and service areas during 2007 and 2008: 

51



 

 Overarching Housing Strategy 
• Housing Strategy 2008-2013: healthy homes, healthy lives, healthy city 
• BME People’s Housing Strategy 
• Older People’s Housing Strategy 
• LGBT People’s Housing Strategy 
 
Core Strategies  
• Supporting People 5-year Strategy 
• Homelessness Strategy  
 
Homelessness Sub Strategies 
• Single Homeless Strategy  
• Temporary Accommodation Strategy 
 

3.3 This report is focussed on the overarching Housing Strategy and the specialist 
strategies relating to Older People, the city’s BME communities and the city’s 
LGBT communities that are being developed in recognition of the particular 
needs faced by these groups. These strategies are currently in development 
and will be submitted for approval later in the current year. 

 

3.4 The strategy development timetable was stretched to take advantage of new 
government guidance that was expected in June 2008. Unfortunately, as a 
result of the announcement in May that the housing reform green paper is due 
to be published towards the end of 2008, it is now unknown if this guidance will 
be produced. However, our planned timetable will now allow us to reflect in the 
strategy relevant parts of the green paper and also the Community 
Empowerment, Housing and Economic Regeneration Bill expected shortly. 

 

3.5 The Homelessness Strategy, Supporting People Strategy Review and 
Temporary Accommodation Strategy were approved at Housing Committee in 
March 2008. 

 

3.6 We recognise that housing plays an important part of all aspects of 
people’s lives, particularly health and wellbeing. To support the new 
strategy the Primary Care Trust is carrying out a Health Impact 
Assessment on the city’s housing stock and housing needs. The results 
of this assessment are helping us to ensure that our strategy and action 
plans contribute to improving the health and wellbeing of local people. 

 

3.7 Day to day management of the strategy development process has been 
overseen by the Strategic Housing Partnership of the Local Strategic 
Partnership which has been acting as the Project Board. 

 

3.8 The Housing Strategy 2008-2013: healthy homes, healthy lives, healthy city 
will be submitted for joint approval to both Council and the Local Strategic 
Partnership and will become a key component of the Community Strategy. 

52



 

4. CONSULTATION: 

4.1 Our strategies have been developed in stages to maximise opportunities for 
local people, advocacy groups, partner organisations, staff and other 
stakeholders to engage in the process. 

 

4.2 The first round of consultation was undertaken over 3 months in summer 2007. 
The consultation was shaped around a Briefing Pack developed to highlight 
key areas of housing need to provide stakeholders with relevant information to 
help facilitate discussion. This pack was available on the council website and 
throughout the city in libraries and other public places. It was also sent out to 
many stakeholders, voluntary organisations and residents.  

 

4.3 To support this consultation we also organised a 2 day Consultation Fair that 
included a Saturday, officers went out into the community, attended social 
functions, service user groups meetings and other events. Where possible we 
also linked in with other research and consultation being carried out across the 
city, such as the groundbreaking Count Me In Too! research looking at the 
needs and aspirations of the city’s LGBT population. 

 

4.4 In winter 2007/08 we published strategy frameworks outlining the proposed key 
priorities and actions for the Housing Strategy, Older People’s Housing 
Strategy, BME Housing Strategy and LGBT Housing Strategy. These priorities 
and actions were developed from the Consultation Briefing Pack and findings 
of the first round of consultation. Consultation on the strategy frameworks 
together is being used to help develop the draft strategies and action plans. 

 

4.5 To support the development of the specialist strategies, two Housing & Support 
Working Groups have been set up: 

• Older People’s Cross Sector Housing & Support Working Group 

• LGBT Housing & Support Working Group 

These groups are made up of representatives from a wide range of support 
and advocacy groups, the community and voluntary sector, the Primary Care 
Trust and the local authority. Whilst these groups have been instigated and 
facilitated by the local authority, they are led by our stakeholders. 

 

4.6 These groups have reviewed each stage of the strategy development process 
and made many valuable contributions to our strategic priorities, action plan 
and equality impact assessment. We hope that these groups will have an 
ongoing monitoring and review remit once the strategies have been published. 

 

4.7 We are working with the BME communities to explore the potential for a similar 
group to be a critical champion of the BME Housing Strategy. 

 

53



4.8 Sub groups of the Strategic Housing Partnership have been looking at the role 
of housing co-ops and the issues around student housing. The findings of 
these groups are helping to inform the draft strategies. 

 

4.9 In tandem with the strategy development process, a number of Chairman’s 
Focus Groups have been set up to consider key issues affecting the council’s 
social housing stock and impacting on the lives of tenants. These groups are 
looking at a number of issues such as sheltered housing, adaptations and 
allocations which are also helping to inform the draft housing strategies. 

 

4.10 The draft Housing Strategy, Older People’s Housing Strategy, BME Housing 
Strategy and LGBT Housing Strategy are expected to be published in the 
autumn for a final round of stakeholder consultation before being submitted for 
approval early in the new year.  

 

4.11 We do not want consultation to end with the publication of our strategies, but 
would like it to be a part of an ongoing process, involving local people and 
other stakeholders throughout the life of the strategies helping us to monitor its 
implementation and review our services. 

 

5. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 

5.1 Financial Implications: [Mike Bentley, Accountant, 16 June 2008] 

There are no direct financial implications arising from the recommendations 
made in this report. However the final published strategies will need to have 
close links with the various financial recovery plans in place/being developed 
across Adult Social Care & Housing.  

 

5.2 Legal Implications: [Celine Hayden, Lawyer, 16 June 2008] 

Under the Local Government Act 2003 the Council is required to produce a 
Housing Strategy (section 87–88) setting out the objectives, targets and 
policies on how the Council intends to manage and deliver its strategic housing 
role. The Housing Strategy document should also provide an overreaching 
framework against which the Council considers and formulates other policies 
on more specific housing issues. The Council’s Housing Strategies are made 
available and appraised by Government Officers for the region (section 65 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989) to ensure they are fit for the purpose 
i.e. that they are capable of delivering the housing function to a standard 
demanded by Government. The Housing Strategy should also address energy 
efficiency issues in the housing stock (Home Energy Conservation Act 1995). 
Policies must be consistent with any national housing strategies at present. 

 

5.3 Equalities Implications: 

An equality impact assessment is being carried out on each strategy as it is 
being developed, with the strategy containing a summary of the assessment. 
Assessments will be completed during the last stage of consultation to inform 
the final drafts of the strategies. Additional Equality Impact Assessments will be 

54



required as the strategy action plans are implemented over the next few years. 
Below is a summary of our approach to each of the 6 equality strands: 

• Race: BME Housing Strategy in development. 

• Disability: Strategy Statement on Physical Disabilities incorporated in 
Housing Strategy and Older People’s Housing Strategy. Disability of all 
kinds, including physical disability, learning disability and mental health 
issues, are also a key feature of the Supporting People and Learning 
Disability Housing Strategies. 

• Gender and gender identity: Actions from the Gender Equality Scheme 
have been fed into the strategic development process. Gender Identity is 
also a key feature of the LGBT Housing Strategy. 

• Age: Older People’s Housing Strategy in development. Youth 
Homelessness Strategy developed in 2007. Supporting People Strategy 
links to older people’s services, youth homelessness services, and action to 
fund LGBT support worker for young people at risk. 

• Religion / Belief: The BME Housing Strategy includes community safety 
objectives which also cover religion and belief. 

• Sexual Orientation: LGBT Housing Strategy in development. 

 

5.4 Sustainability Implications:  

Housing is one of the 12 key objectives of the council’s Sustainability Strategy 
which aims to ensure that everyone has access to decent, affordable 
housing that meets their needs. The Housing Strategy 2008-2013 and 
related specialist strategies support this aim. 

 

5.5 Crime & Disorder Implications:  

Ensuring appropriate housing and support is essential in helping to reduce 
antisocial behaviour and other crime and also to support the victims of crime. 
Specific actions within the LGBT and BME housing strategies recognise hate 
crime and aim to support victims and help develop safer communities. 

55



 

5.6 Risk and Opportunity Management Implications: 

The current economic climate brings with it the risks of increased levels of 
home repossessions, increased numbers of empty homes, increased 
overcrowding, reduced access to equity funding for maintenance and 
improvements and reduced levels of house building. This could increase 
pressures relating to homelessness, housing support and community cohesion. 
A robust housing strategy is essential to help mitigate these risks and resultant 
budgetary pressures. 

 

5.7 Corporate / Citywide Implications: 

Housing is a fundamental aspect of people’s wellbeing affecting the daily lives 
of 250,000 residents in Brighton & Hove. Poor or inappropriate housing has a 
direct impact on the ability of residents to maintain their independence – this 
has implications for social care, education and the health. 22,000 households 
in the city have someone with a support need and vulnerability affects 1 in 5 
households. Housing also has a significant impact on the economy, with the 
housing stock currently valued at approximately £26bn. Homes worth more 
than £1bn are sold every year with around a further £1bn being spent on 
maintenance, rents, mortgages and other associated housing costs. Our 
housing aims support the priorities and aims of the 2020 Community Strategy. 

 

 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 

Appendices 

1. None  

 

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

1. None 

 

Background Documents:  

All available at: http://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/index.cfm?request=c1188834 

1. Draft Housing Strategy Framework, December 2007 

2. Draft Older People’s Housing Strategy Framework, December 2007 

3. Draft BME People’s Housing Strategy Framework, December 2007 

4. Draft LGBT People’s Housing Strategy Framework, December 2007 

5. Housing Strategy 2008: Consultation Briefing Pack, May 2007 

56



Housing Management 
Consultative Committee  

Agenda Item 18 
Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

 

 

Subject: Housing Management Performance Report 

Date of Meeting: 22 July 2008 

Report of: Director of Adult Social Care & Housing 

Contact Officer: Name:  John Austin Locke Tel: 29-1008      

 E-mail: John.austin-locke@brighton-hove.gov.uk  

Wards Affected: All  
 

FOR GENERAL RELEASE 

 

1. SUMMARY AND POLICY CONTEXT: 
  

1.1 This report comes to Cabinet as a "Work in Progress" report on reaching 
 performance targets set by members and/or cabinet and reporting on general 
 policy initiatives underway to improve performance within Housing Management 
 responsibilities. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 
  

(1) That Housing Management Consultative Committee comment on the contents of 
this report. 
 

3.  RELEVANT BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
 

3.1 There follows a series of reports on specific areas of performance. 
 

3.1.1 Rent Collection and Current Arrears 

 

3.1.2 This section of the report provides information pertaining to four statutory 
 performance indicators relating to the collection of Housing Revenue Account rent. 
 The four indicators are known as BVPI66a, BVPI66b, BVPI66c and BVPI66d 
 respectively and concern: 

• The proportion of rent collected during the year that was actually due (or 
charged) during the year. 

• The percentage of tenants with more than 7weeks rent arrears 
• The percentage of tenants in arrears who have had a Notice of Seeking 

Possession Served on them during the year 
• The percentage of tenants who have been evicted as a result of rent arrears 

 

 

 

57



  

BVPI 66a. Proportion of rent arrears collected 

 

BVPI 66a  

Brighton 97.75% (07/08) 

All England – Top Quartile* 98.57% 

All England – Bottom Quartile 97.07% 

All England – Average 97.66% 

Unitaries – Top Quartile 98.56% 

Unitaries – Bottom Quartile 96.88% 

Unitaries – Average 97.74% 

* N.B The benchmarking information is taken from national reported figures from 2006/07. 

Benchmarking information for 2007/08 is not published by the Audit Commission until autumn 
2008. 

 

3.1.3 This performance indicator relates to the proportion of rent collected as a 
 percentage of the total rent due during the year. It does not take account of any 
 cash collected to clear arrears from previous arrears or pre-payments taken to 
 cover rent due in future years. This means that it is not possible for the result 
 to exceed 100%.  

 

3.1.4 The indicator result includes former tenancy arrears when a tenant moves during 
 the year from one Housing Revenue Account property to another.  

 

3.1.5 There are a number of examples where a tenant in arrears may transfer to another 
 property. These include tenants who are relocated due to serious harassment 
 or who are moved due to exceptional over-riding medical need. There are also 
 circumstances where a new tenancy is granted at the same address, for example 
 where a tenant succeeds the tenancy from a spouse or partner. 

 

3.1.6 The results shown are the final results for 2007/08. 

 

3.1.7 The graphs on pages 3-10 of the appendix show performance for the year. The 
 monthly data for 2006/07 and 2007/08 is also shown as a comparator. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

58



  

Neighbourhood Performance  

2006/07 

Performance  

2007/08 

Difference Between 2006/07 
and 2007/08 

Brighton East 95.44% 97.07% +1.63% 

Central 97.30% 98.21% +0.91% 

North & East 97.27% 98.08% +0.81% 

West 96.19% 98.09% +1.9% 

Temporary 
Accommodation 

93.06% 93.8008% +0.74% 

Citywide 96.44% 97.75% +1.31% 

 

• The table below shows what the percentages translate to in financial terms. 
Based on current performance it is forecast that the council will collect £36.18 
million of the total collectable rent during the year that became due during the 
year. 

 

Neighbourhood Annual Rent 
Charged to 
Tenants (£) 

Performance 
2007/08 

How much of the rent 
charged for the year that we 
collected (£) 

Brighton East 12,536,060 97.08% 12,170,007 

Central 7,554,072 98.21% 7,418,854 

North & East 11,031,008 98.08% 10,819,213 

West 7,487,056 98.09% 7,344,053 

Temporary  

Accommodation 

263,308 93.80% 245,087 

Totals 38,871,504 97.75% 37,997,214 

 

3.1.8  The figures above relate to rent collected from charges made through the year. It 
does not include any rent collected from arrears in previous years. The total 
amount collected was £39,349,984, which relates to an arrears reduction of 
£478,480 during 2007/08. Over the year the net total current tenant arrears has 
dropped from £1,384,155 to £905,675. 

 

3.1.9. The housing Income Management Team has worked hard to achieve this result 
and have exceeded their target of 97.7%. All neighbourhood areas have improved 
on last years result demonstrating that after a period of settling into the role and 
resolving many long standing complex cases the team are obtaining the results 
that have been expected by tenants, leaseholders and members.  

 

3.1.10 Although the performance for temporary accommodation is lower than other areas 
 the significance of this is far less with arrears standing at £17,711 at year end. It 
 also needs to be remembered that temporary accommodation staff have a high 

59



  

 turnover of residents and often only a very short period of time in which to deal 
 with benefit claims and resolve arrears issues. 

 

BVPI 66b. % of tenants with more than seven weeks arrears 

 

BVPI 66b  

Brighton 7.85 (07/08) 

All England – Top Quartile* 3.89% 

All England – Bottom Quartile 7.69% 

All England – Average 6.35% 

Unitaries – Top Quartile 4.64% 

Unitaries – Bottom Quartile 8.40% 

Unitaries – Average 6.94% 

* N.B The benchmarking information is taken from national reported figures from 2006/07. 

Benchmarking information for 2007/08 is not published by the Audit Commission until autumn 
2008. 

3.1.11 This indicator shows the percentage of tenants with more than seven weeks’ 
 arrears. The indicator is an average over the year rather than a snap shot at 
 anyone time i.e. the end of a month or quarter. This means that the figures shown 
 are cumulative and we take weekly snapshots to calculate average to date. 

3.1.12 For 2007/08 we have set a target of no more than 7.60% of tenants having more 
 than seven weeks’ arrears. In setting the target we have factored in the number 
 of new tenancies each year, approximately 800, and the percentage of tenants 
 who are in receipt of full and partial Housing Benefit. This is because a 
 proportion of this debt will be as a result of Housing Benefit processing times 
 and delays caused by some tenants not providing relevant information to allow 
 their claim to be processed quickly.  

3.1.13 At the year end performance stood at 7.85%, or an average of 954 debtors with 
 arrears of more than 7 weeks.  

 

3.1.14 Although it is disappointing the team were just off target members of this 
 committee are asked to note that over the course of the year the number of 
 debtors with more than seven weeks rent arrears dropped from 1068 to 852. This 
 equates to a drop of 216 cases. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

60



  

BVPI 66c. Tenants who have received a NOSP for rent arrears. 

 

BVPI 66c  

Brighton 27.23% (07/08) 

All England – Top Quartile* 16.55% 

All England – Bottom Quartile 32.99% 

All England – Average 26.46% 

Unitaries – Top Quartile 17.01% 

Unitaries – Bottom Quartile 33.35% 

Unitaries – Average 25.36% 

* N.B The benchmarking information is taken from national reported figures from 2006/07. 

Benchmarking information for 2007/08 is not published by the Audit Commission until autumn 
2008. 

 

3.1.15 This indicator measures the percentage of local authority tenants who have had a 
 Notice of Seeking Possession (NOSP) served on them for rent arrears. A NOSP is 
 the first stage in legal action against tenants and gives notice that unless a 
 tenant takes  steps to address their arrears or enter into an agreement with the 
 council to repay the debt then the council may proceed to court action. A  NOSP 
 will not be served without attempts to speak with the customer. These efforts will 
 then continue after the NOSP has been served and through all stages until the 
 case reaches  court, if indeed it does go that far. The government calls for the 
 indicator to be calculated as a percentage of the average number of tenants in 
 arrears throughout the year.  

 

3.1.16 The government is very clear that local authorities must adopt a preventative 
 approach to rent arrears. The aim of this indicator is to ensure local authorities 
 are only using legal  action and threats of legal action as a last resort. The 
 government expect local authorities to review policies and procedures to ensure 
 that preventative measures are in place so that Notices of Seeking Possession are 
 kept to a minimum.  

 

3.1.17 Although the government’s intentions here are clear, many landlords see the 
 serving of a  NOSP as an effective tool to collecting rent arrears, as it gives an 
 obvious message to debtors that we are serious about collecting debts. It does not 
 follow that the serving of a  NOSP will lead to court action. Within a well thought 
 out and proactive rent arrears procedure the serving of a NOSP can actually 
 reduce the number of tenants taken to court.  

 

3.1.18 Brighton and Hove’s arrears procedures are well laid out, and do not lead officers 
 into inappropriate court action. It does not therefore seem appropriate or 
 desirable to artificially influence this indicator by not serving NOSPs, 
 potentially at the expense of the overall  collection rate. It is instead anticipated 
 that our proactive policy of early intervention/prevention work will stop debts 
 escalating to the 6-7 week point at when a NOSP is usually served. 

61



  

Part of the project plan for the next 6 months is to review our arrears processes 
with a view to further streamlining the process. This will include looking a the time 
we take to serve a NOSP. At present the protocol prior to serving a NOSP is as 
follows: 

Week 2 First Arrears letter 

Week 4 Second Arrears letter 

Week 5  NOSP warning letter 

Week 6/7 NOSP served 

 

The tenant is contacted by phone throughout this process, and will not serve a 
NOSP without attempting a home visit, even if that only results in us leaving a 
calling card. 

 

3.1.19 As the year progresses, an increasing number of NOSPs will be served although 
 consideration is always given to individual cases. To support this sensitive 
 but legally rigorous approach we have set an annual target that at the end of the 
 year there should be no more than 15% of tenants who are in arrears with a 
 Notice of Seeking Possession. At the end of 2007/08 the performance was 
 27.23% against a target of 15%.  

 

3.1.20 This is a new performance indicator and at the time of writing benchmarking 
 information is only available for 2006/07. Extrapolating that data we estimate that 
 this result would place Brighton & Hove in the lower median quartile.  

 

3.1.21Brighton & Hove’s target was set taking into account that we will normally serve a 
 notice where arrears are at the 6 – 7 week level. This gives a very clear message 
 to a tenant who has not engaged that we are serious about debt collection. It also 
 protects the council's interests as we cannot proceed to court, (if we deem that 
 necessary) until four weeks after a NOSP has been served. The target has also 
 been set based on the figures for BVPI66b, which measures those with more than 
 7 weeks rent arrears. The objective is to do well at BVPI66a whilst keeping 
 BVPI66c as low as possible.  

 
3.1.22  It is disappointing that we are well outside our target, however, members of the 
 committee are asked to recognise the achievement for BVPI66a, which is the 
 actual income that feeds Into the Housing Revenue Account. It is not considered 
 sensible, given our collection rate to keep BVPI66c artificially low (i.e. by not 
 serving NOSPs) at the expense of BVPI66a.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

62



  

BVPI 66d. Tenants evicted as a result of rent arrears 

 

BVPI 66d  

Brighton 0.17% (07/08) 

All England – Top Quartile* 0.20% 

All England – Bottom Quartile 0.49% 

All England – Average 0.45% 

Unitaries – Top Quartile 0.23% 

Unitaries – Bottom Quartile 0.5% 

Unitaries – Average 0.39% 

* N.B The benchmarking information is taken from national reported figures from 2006/07. 

Benchmarking information for 2007/08 is not published by the Audit Commission until autumn 
2008. 

3.1.23 This indicator measures the percentage of all tenants evicted as a result of rent 
arrears. The denominator in this calculation looks at the number of tenancies at 
the end of each quarter.  

3.1.24 It has been agreed that we do not wish to evict more than 35 households as a 
result of rent arrears. During 2007/08 Brighton & Hove Council evicted 23 
households for rent arrears.  

 

3.2 Empty Property Turnaround Time  

 

3.2.1 This section of the report provides performance information for the full financial 
 year 2007/08, for BV212, the Best Value Performance Indicator for the letting 
 of empty homes. 

 

BV212 Average time taken to re-let local authority housing 

Brighton 31 (07/08) 

All England – Top Quartile* 26 

All England – Bottom Quartile 46 

All England – Average 39 

Unitaries – Top Quartile 39 

Unitaries – Bottom Quartile 45 

Unitaries – Average 28 

* N.B The benchmarking information is taken from national reported figures from 2006/07. 

Benchmarking information for 2007/08 is not published by the Audit Commission until autumn 
2008. 

 

3.2.2 The full year turnaround time average for 2007/8 was 31 days, falling very  
 slightly short of the annual target of 30 days, and an improvement on the   

63



  

 previous years average of 35 days.  Please see Table 1. The team and repairs  
 partnering contractors have been successful in recovering from high   
 turnaround figures of 49 days in May last year to around 24 days on average  
 for the last quarter of the year.  

 

BV212  Average turnaround time in days  - 2007/8 
 

2007/8 

Target – 30 
days 

Last 
Year 

 Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 
Year 
end 
total 

Average 
turnaround 
time 

35 45 32 25 24 31 

Lets within 
target 

55% 30% 56% 74% 74% 60% 

  

3.2.3 The table below demonstrates the difficulties experienced within the contract  
 during the first few months of the last financial year, as previously reported  
 to Housing Management Sub Committee in September 2007. 

 

BV212  Average turnaround time in days  - 2007/8 

 

3.2.4 The excellent focus on improving performance over the last half year has  enabled 
us to rank 21st place out of the 61 housing organisations in the South East 

Target – 30 
days 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 
Yr end 
total 

General needs housing 

General 
needs  

46 46 44 35 31 23 25 25 22 24 22 21 30 

Total let 51 49 45 63 46 49 54 61 62 57 53 67 657 

% Let in 
target 

29% 22% 38% 46% 57% 76% 72% 74% 79% 61% 85% 82% 62% 

Sheltered housing 

Sheltered 46 57 47 57 32 39 37 32 24 37 37 28 39 

Total let 15 13 6 11 11 6 12 12 14 7 10 9 126 

Let in target 26% 31% 33% 9% 64% 67% 34% 58% 86% 57% 50% 67% 50% 

All properties 

All  46 49 44 38 31 25 27 26 22 26 24 22 31 

Total let 66 62 51 74 57 55 66 73 76 64 63 76 782 

Let in target 26% 24% 37% 41% 58% 75% 71% 71% 80% 61% 79% 80% 60% 

64



  

Benchmark Club, and rank first place of 12 Major Cities Benchmark Club, in the 
last quarter of the year.  

 

Table 3 below compares quarterly BV212 and shows the difference in sheltered 
properties with and without shared facilities. There remains a general pattern of 
sheltered properties of all types taking longer to let than general needs housing, as 
well as sheltered properties with shared facilities generally exceeding the average 
time for sheltered homes with their own facilities.  There have been a few 
difficulties in letting some sheltered properties, even with their own facilities, in our 
less desirable blocks and those with two bedrooms. 

 

BV212 figures with detailed sheltered accommodation comparison 

 

2007/8 

Target – 30 Days 

Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Year end 
total 

General needs 45 30 24 22 30 

Sheltered own facilities 45 44 29 35 37 

Sheltered shared 
facilities 

72 39 49 25 49 

Total sheltered 48 43 30 34 39 

All properties 45 32 25 24 31 

Let in target 30% 56% 74% 74% 60% 

 

3.2.5  Number of empty properties 

The number of empty council properties stood at 122 at the beginning of this 
financial year. This represents only 0.97% of the councils stock. 

 

Empty properties at the beginning of the year 

     

Time Number % of stock 

April 2004 232 1.85% 

April 2005 257 1.87% 

April 2006 112 0.89% 

April 2007 123 0.98% 

April 2008 122 0.97% 

 
 

 

65



  

3.2.6  Refusal of properties by housing applicants 

We record detailed information on reasons properties are refused by applicants. 
These assist in a continuous review that aims to supply the most appropriate 
information to applicants. 

 

In 2007/08, not liking the area is the principle reason given for refusing the offer of 
a property. Evidence suggests that a number of applicants do not look around an 
area until the day of the viewing. There is currently no penalty for applicants 
making multiple refusals.  

 

It also remains of concern that such a high proportion of applicants make no 
response to offers. It appears that a proportion of these customers change their 
mind about wanting to move, but do not notify us of this change.  

 

The other top reasons for refusal are set out in the chart below. 

 

Top reasons for refusal during the year  

  

2006/7 Reason given by applicant 
As a percent of 
all refusals 

1 
Applicant has changed area of choice, 
subsequent to offer being made 

15% 

2 
No response is received from applicant, 
subsequent to offer, despite efforts to make 
contact by staff 

14% 

3 
Subsequent to offer being made, applicant 
declares that they want a different property 

13% 

4 
After viewing the property, applicant declares 
it to be unsuitable for their purposes 

10% 

5 
After viewing the property, the applicant 
declares it to be too small for purpose 

8% 

 

3.3 Repairs Update 

 

3.2.1 The responsive repairs partnering contracts with Kier and Mears have now been in 
place for just over a year. Performance has greatly improved over the last six 
months following the mobilisation of the contract. 

 

3.3.2  The table below shows the level of responsive repairs carried out in each quarter of 
last year and the percentage of repairs that were completed within the target time. 

 

 

 

66



  

 

Responsive Repairs 
 

 Q1 

Apr – Jun 07 

Q2 

July - Sep 07 

Q3 

Oct - Dec 07 

Q4 

Jan - Mar 08 

Emergency Repairs 
Completed in time  

82.97 % 

 

88.62% 

 

97.87% 

 

97.65% 

 

No of Emergency Repairs 
completed 

1427  1230 1846 2339 

Urgent Repairs Completed in 
time 

85.40% 

 

87.89% 

 

90.97% 

 

94.02% 

 

No of Urgent Repairs 
completed 

2233 2114 1572 1756 

Routine Repairs Completed 
within target time 

86.14% 

 

87.49% 

 

90.75% 

 

94.88% 

 

No of Routine Repairs 
completed 

1731 2143 3104 4667 

 

3.3.3 The highest performing authorities are currently achieving 98.16% for   
 emergency repairs completed in time, we finished the year slightly below that  
 but in a good position to achieve that level in 2008/2009. 

 

3.3.4 For urgent repairs completed in time highest performing cities are achieving  
 97%, we finished the year at 94%. 

 

3.3.5 The highest performing authorities achieved above 93.70% for routine  
 repairs completed in time, our responsive repairs contract is currently 
 performing above that at 94.88%. 

 

3.3.6 This benchmarking information is from the Major Cities group as at  beginning 
 of May 2008.  

 

3.3.7 Other performance indicators for the responsive repairs contract are summarised 
in the table below and are from February 2008, which is the latest complete 
information available for these indicators.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

67



  

 Responsive Repairs 

  Target February 2008 

1 Resident Satisfaction with 
Responsive Repair Service 

95% 98.67% 

2 Orders Repaired in First Visit 85% 91.78% 

3 Orders Passing Quality 
Inspection 

95% 96.04% 

4 Reportable Health & Safety 
Incidents 

0 0 

5 Emergency and Urgent Repairs 
Completed within target time* 

98.5% 93.51% 

6 No of Days to Complete Routine 
Repairs* 

14 days 14 days 

*Target times as follows: 

• Emergency repairs: 24 Hours 

• Urgent repairs: 3 working days 

• Routine repairs: 20 working days 

 

3.3.8  All of the indicators reported for February have exceeded the set targets except for 
indicator 5 measuring the emergency and urgent repairs completed in time. Work 
is being undertaken by the partnership to address this area of performance, this 
includes the introduction of simplified emergency schedule of rates and early 
indications are that April has delivered a 2% improvement on the February figure. 

 

3.3.9 In all areas the performance has improved over the course of the first year of the 
responsive repairs contract, and in a number of important areas Brighton & Hove 
City Council has exceeded top quartile performance. The partnership sees this 
level of performance as a good platform to achieve top quartile over the coming 
months. 

 

3.3.10 From a slow start mobilising the new contract, it became evident quickly that poor 
performance completing repairs within their target time had a significant impact on 
the customer. We have worked with our partners on a regular basis to reduce the 
level of jobs overdue their target date, from a peak of 2800 to 453 by the year end. 
There is still a lot of hard work to do but our target is to reduce the level to below 
200 by the end of the summer 

 

3.3.11 Alongside the operational management of the Responsive Maintenance   
 contract, The Repairs and Maintenance team are working to add value to the  
 contract and improve the council’s overall performance to three star rating. 

 

 

 

 

68



  

 

3.4  Sickness Absence 

 

3.4.1 The table below sets out the sickness absence across the council in the second 
 half  of the year. 

Directorate (BV12) Q3  

Average Days 
Lost 

Q4  

Average Days 
Lost 

2007-2008  

Average Days 
Lost 

Adult Social Care & Housing 4.25 4.52 16.54 

Children & Young Peoples' Trust 2.07 2.31 7.56 

Cultural Services 2.88 2.81 10.85 

EB4U 5.52 0.92 13.23 

Environment 2.33 2.46 10.07 

Finance & Resources 2.75 3.14 10.99 

Strategy & Governance 2.11 2.19 7.79 

All Council 2.63 2.84 10.12 

Division Q3  

Average Days 
Lost 

Q4  

Average Days 
Lost 

2007-2008  

Average Days 
Lost 

Adult Services 4.60 4.80 17.48 

Community Care (S75) 2.12 3.03 9.22 

Housing Management 5.04 4.45 19.32 

Housing Strategy 5.05 6.03 18.09 

Integrated Learning Disability 3.27 3.57 14.16 

Adult Social Care and Housing Total 4.25 4.52 16.54 

 

 

BV12 2006/7 

Brighton 10.78  

All England – Top Quartile 8.09 

All England – Bottom Quartile 10.73 

All England – Average 9.44 

Unitaries – Top Quartile 8.70 

Unitaries – Bottom Quartile 10.78 

Unitaries – Average 9.6 

 

3.4.2 Initiatives are currently underway by Housing Management with the aim of 
improving attendance. The Housing Management division has undertaken a 
corporate pilot for a Stress Risk Assessment initiative. Human Resources are 

69



  

also assisting Housing Management Managers by improving the methodology 
by  which absentees have their return to work interviews conducted.  

 

3.5 Gas Servicing 

 

The graph below shows the progress of Brighton & Hove City Council, Mears 
and PH Jones in servicing gas installations. The end of year (March) figure was 
99.06%, the second highest achieved in the year. 

 

% of Properties with a Current Gas Service

97%

98%

99%

100%

Combined 98.12 98.03 98.39 99.00 99.24 99.03 98.97 98.79 98.80 98.58 98.69 99.06

Apr
07

May
07

Jun
07

Jul Aug
07

Sep
07

Oct
07

Nov
07

Dec
07

Jan Feb
08

Mar
0807 08

 
 

3.5.1 The number of Council properties with a valid gas safety certificate has 
 shown a  year on year improvement. The March 2008 figure of 99.06% 
 shows nearly a 1% increase on the previous year and is only 0.18% below the 
 traditionally high August figure. Indications show that the improvement  should 
 continue this year. The partners continue to perform well and have 
 consistently met their Key Performance Indicators. In a drive for continuous 
 improvement and in consultation with the partnering contractors, the majority of 
 KPI’s have been raised for 2008/2009.  

 

3.5.2 Investment in gas heating continues and during the year 2007-08 the 
 partners replaced 698 gas boilers and installed 40 new systems. This 
 investment will reduce ongoing service and repair costs, improve overall 
 energy efficiency, and importantly, reduce tenant’s fuel bills. Investment will 
 continue during the new financial year with greater emphasis on renewing 
 older and less efficient boilers. 

 

3.5.3 In March 2008 CORGI was invited to carry out a management audit on the 
 Planned Maintenance and Engineer Section. The audit was carried out in 

70



  

 conjunction with similar scrutiny of the partnering contractors, also by  CORGI. 
 The auditor reported: 

 

“The organisation has a very effective access procedure and excellent service 
compliance rate of 98.75% on the day of the audit. These are very good results 
if benchmarked against similar social landlords where this exercise has been 
undertaken. Within the organisation there are dedicated staff who give gas 
safety issues a high priority and demonstrate high standards in the delivery of 
service to the tenants” 

 

The audit also highlighted several areas where improvement could be 
achieved, including: 

1. a more robust procedure in reporting gas leaks. 
2. the gas administration staff to have a greater understanding of gas issues     
3. the procedure for maintaining gas safety in empty properties (in particular 

monitoring of gas contractors where the partnering contractor is not 
involved). 

An action plan is in place to ensure improvement in all these areas. 

 

3.5.4 Housing officer involvement in the gas safety process has been particularly 
effective. Further improvement is being implemented to achieve even better 
access rates to those properties that are difficult to reach. Targets have been 
agreed for processing of referred no-access cases:  

• 50-60% properties to be completed within 30 days of referral 

• 85%- 90% to be completed within 90 days of referral 

 

3.5.5 In order to assist in improving access rates, a trial is being undertaken for 
 the fixing of awareness raising notices over tenants’ door locks, and it is 
 proposed  that new boiler controls that incorporate a service reminder alarm 
 should be fitted to properties where access has been difficult. 

 

3.6 Correspondence performance in answering complaints 

 

3.6.1 Complaints about Housing Management are dealt with under the Corporate 
Complaints procedure. Managers form the service investigate and reply to 
Stage One complaints. Standards and Complaints officers carry out Stage Two 
Investigations. Customers may then refer to the Local Government 
Ombudsman if they remain dissatisfied. 

 

3.6.2   Stage One Complaints; Trends, Themes, Issues 
 
3.6.3 Chart 1 shows the trend for Housing Management complaints for April 2007 to 

March 2008. Complaints about the whole department have remained static 
over that period. Repairs and Maintenance shows a significant reduction over 
the year. For Housing Estate Management  there has been a gradual increase 
in levels of complaint.  

71



  

 

Chart 1 

Housing Management Complaint Trends April 

2007 - March 2008

8688
93

82

37

505450

26292718

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

100

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2007/08

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
C
o
m
p
la
in
ts

Hsg Mng

Rep Mnt

Est Mngmnt

 
 

3.6.4 The table below, gives information about complaint numbers at all stages of the 
complaints process. 

 

3.6.5 There have been noticeable levels of complaint about Garages & Car Parks 
(22). The increase has been as a result of customers being made aware that 
they can use the complaint process to appeal decision to clamp vehicles. 
Those complaints have resulted in no re-imbursements or findings against the 
clamping company. 

 
        Volume of complaints by service area. 

 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Housing 
Management 
2007/08 

S1 S2 LGO S1 S2 LGO S1 S2 LGO S1 S2 LGO 

Repairs & 
Maintenance 

50 4 2 54 3 2 50 1 3 37 3 0 

Housing/Estate 
Management 

18 1 3 27 3 2 29 3 0 26 3 0 

ASB 2 0 0 5 0 0 1 0 0 4 1 0 

Garages/carparks 6 2 3 4 0 0 3 2 1 9 2 0 

RTB/Leasehold  0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 2 0 0 0 

Debt Recovery 3 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 

New Tenancies 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 2 0 0 

Sheltered Housing 2 0 0 2 0 0 1 0 0 5 0 0 

Total 82 8 8 

 

93 6 4 

 

88 6 6 

 

86 9 0 

72



  

3.6.6 Table 5, shows improvements in plumbing services and reduced delays in 
carrying out repairs have contributed to falling levels of complaints about 
Repairs and Maintenance. 

 

Complaints relating to repairs and maintenance 
 

 Repairs and Maintenance Issues 
2007/08 

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Brickwork 3 2 0 1 

Carpentry 3 2 1 6 

Condensation Damp 3 9 4 4 

Delay Carrying Out Repair 37 28 26 19 

Electrical 4 4 4 3 

Failure to Identify Problem 5 0 4 5 

Heating 3 0 8 3 

M&E (Lifts etc) 0 0 1 0 

Missed Appointment 2 1 1 4 

Plumbing 8 43 36 17 

Refusal to repair 3 1 2 0 

Roofing 1 2 2 0 

Scaffolding 3 1 2 1 

Staff Attitude 6 7 2 6 

Total 81 100 93 69 

 

3.6.7  Correspondence Performance 

 

3.6.8  Correspondence performance is a useful indication of how much priority is 
  placed on dealing with customer dissatisfaction with services. 
 
3.6.9 Chart 2 shows the average response times throughout the year. The 

Council’s standard is to reply to complaints within 10 working days. 
• Average reply times for the whole department improved until quarter 3 

and increased slightly in quarter 4 to 8.3 days. 
• Average reply times for Estate Management have increased over the 

year and reached 10.3 days in quarter 4. 
• Average reply times for Repairs and Maintenance improved significantly 

in quarter 3 to 7.7 days but increased in quarter 4 to 9.4 days. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

73



  

Chart 2 

Average Reply Times 2007/08

10.2

12.3

7.8 8.37.8

16.1

9.4

10.3

9.4

11.7 11.4

7.7

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2007/08

R
e
p
ly
 i
n
 w
o
rk
in
g
 d
a
y
s

Hsg Mng

Est Mngmnt

Rep Mnt

 
 

3.6.11  The small number of complaints that are taking an excessively long time to 
  reply to are causing the average reply times to be unnecessarily high.  
 

Chart 3 

P r o p o r tio n  o f p e o p le  r e c e iv in g  r e p lie s  w ith in  1 0  

w o r k in g  d a y s , S ta g e  O n e  2 0 0 7 /0 8

8 4

7 3
7 1

7 4

6 2

8 9

8 1 7 8

6 4
6 0

7 1

8 4

0

1 0

2 0

3 0

4 0

5 0

6 0

7 0

8 0

9 0

1 0 0

Q 1 Q 2 Q 3 Q 4

2 0 0 7 /0 8

%
 r
e
p
li
e
s H sg  M ng

E s t M ngm nt

R e p  M nt

 
 

 The second measure of significance is the proportion of people who receive a 
response within 10 working days. The chart shows that: 

• For the whole department, replies sent within 10 working days increased 
from 73% to 84%. 

• For Estate Management the proportion of replies fell from 89% to 62% in 
quarter three but increased to 78% in quarter 4. 

• For Repairs and Maintenance replies within 10 working days have 
increased from 60% in quarter 2 to 84% in quarter 4 

 

74



  

3.6.13    Stage Two Complaints 

 

3.6.14 The proportion of Repairs and Maintenance complaints referred to Stage 
Two over the year was 7%. For the whole council 8% of cases were 
referred. There were no specific recurring themes at this stage. 

 

3.6.15 For Estate Management 10% of complaints were referred to Stage Two. Of 
the ten cases referred for investigation four related to dissatisfaction with 
the way neighbour nuisance was being dealt with.  
• Two cases were in part upheld  
• One case was not investigated. The complainant had a restraining order 

against him and was making counter allegations 
• The fourth case has not yet been concluded 

 

3.6.16    Ombudsman Complaints 

 

3.6.17 There have been no findings of maladministration against Housing 
Management. 

 

3.6.18  Complaints about Repairs and Maintenance resulted in three Local   
  Settlements. 

• In one case the Ombudsman recommended that R&M Stage One 
response letters should be reviewed to ensure complainants are 
informed of how to access Stage Two of the complaint process. 

• Two cases resulted in recommendations of payments totalling £250. 
Each complaint related to delay in carrying out repairs. 

 

3.6.19 One complaint about Housing Management resulted in a Local Settlement 
by way of an apology and payment of £200 for the delay in dealing with 
noise nuisance caused by an ineffective door closure.  

 

3.6.20  There were four complaints to the Ombudsman about Garages and Car  
  Parking. One case resulted in a Local Settlement in which the Ombudsman 
  considered the Council had taken reasonable action to deal with obstruction 
  of the complainant’s garage. 
 

 

3.7     Estates Service 

 

3.7.1 Following the recommendations of the Chairman’s Focus Group on the 
Estates Service, work is ongoing to review the way that the cleaning of 
common parts is organised and monitored. Residents on the focus 
group said they wanted to see more accountability for cleaning and 
better performance  monitoring. To meet this aim, dedicated cleaners 
for groups of high rise buildings are being trialled. This is getting 

75



  

positive feedback from residents. A report providing a detailed update 
on this work will be brought to the next meeting of this committee. 

 

3.7.2  The Graffiti and Bulk Refuse removal teams continue to provide a 
responsive service with all urgent jobs being carried out within the set 
response time of one working day. Tables showing the number of jobs 
and their performance record are set out below. 

 

Estate Services Monitoring Figures 

Bulk Waste Removal November 07-March 08 

 Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

Urgent jobs 0 2 4 6 8 

Routine jobs 197 149 193 235 225 

Total 197 151 197 241 233 

Target met for urgent jobs N/A 100% 100% 100% 100% 

Target met for routine jobs 99% 96% 99% 100% 97% 

Target - urgent jobs removal in 1 working day of report 

Target - routine jobs removal within 7 working days of report 

 

state Services Monitoring Figures 

Graffiti Removal November 07-March 08 

 Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

Urgent jobs 5 3 14 0 0 

Routine jobs 65 38 68 28 70 

Total 70 41 82 28 70 

Target met for urgent jobs 100% 100% 100% 0% N/A 0% N/A 

Target met for routine jobs 82% 95% 97% 100% 97% 

Target - urgent jobs removal in 1 working day of report 

Target - routine jobs removal within 7 working days of report 

 

4. CONSULTATION 

 

4.1 The Performance report will be presented to customers at the next round of 
 Housing Management Area Panels. 

76



  

 

5. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 

 

5.1 Financial information on performance is included in the main body of the 
report. 

 

Most performance measures discussed in this report have financial 
implications. For example, any improvement in turnaround times or reductions 
in empty property numbers increases the amount of rent collected. 
Improvements in performance will, in general, lead to more resources being 
available for tenants services in the future. 

 

Legal Implications: 
 

5.2 There are none. 

 

Lawyer consulted:  Deborah Jones Date:  28 May 2008  
 

Equalities Implications: 
 

5.3 There are no direct Equalities Implications arising from this report 
 

Sustainability Implications: 
 

5.4 There are no direct sustainability implications arising from this report 

 

Risk and Opportunity Management Implications:  
 

5.5 There are no direct risk and opportunity management implications arising 
 from this report 
 

Corporate / Citywide Implications: 
 

5.7 There are no direct Corporate or Citywide implications arising from this 
 report. 
 

6. EVALUATION OF ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTION(S): 
 

6.1 Alternative options are integral to the processes of performance 
improvement discussed in this report. 

 

7. REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

7.1 These are contained within the body of the report. 

77



  

 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 

Appendices: 

1. None 
 

Documents in Members’ Rooms 

1. None 
 

Background Documents 

1. None 

78



��
�
�
��
�
��
�
	


�
��
�
�
�
�

�	
�

��
��
��
��
��
��
��
��
��
��
��
��
��
�

�

�
�

�
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�	
�
	


�

�
�
�
�
��
�
�	


�


�
�
�
�
�



�
�
��
�
��



�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�

��
��
�


�

�
��
�
��
�
�
�
�
��
�

�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�

�
��
��
�
�

79



�
�
	

�
	

�

�
�
��
�


��
��
��
�
�
�

��
�
��
��
��
�

�
�
�
���
�

�
 
�!
"
�

#
$
� 
�
%&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
'

�
�
��
�


��
��
��
�
�
�

��
�
��
��
��
�

�
�
�
���
�

�
 
�!
(
�
�

�
%&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
)

�
�
��
�


��
��
��
�
�
�

��
�
��
��
��
�

�
�
�
���
�

�
 
�!
*
�
�

%
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
+

�
�
��
�


��
��
��
�
�
�

��
�
��
��
��
�

�
�
�
���
�

�
 
�!
"
�
�

�


�%
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&�

�
�
��
�


��
��
��
�
�
�

��
�
��
��
��
�

�
�
�
���
�

�
 
�!
,


�

%
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&�

�
�
��
�


��
��
��
�
�
�

��
�
��
��
��
�

�
�
�
���
�

�
 
�!

�
�
�
�
�

�#
�

�
�
�
�
�
�
 



�
�
�
%&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&
�

�
�
��
�
-
��
�.

��
��

�
�


�

�
�$
�

�
��
�
��
�

�


�
��
�$
�
�
/
�
0�
��
�

�


��
�


��
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
1

�
�
��
�
�
��
�.

��
��

�
�


�

�
��
�
�

��
�


��
�$
�
�
��


2
�
��


 
��
�

�
�
�
�
��
�
�
/
��
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
�2
�
 
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&
3
�

�
�
��
3
�
��
�4
2
�
�

�
�
�

��
�
��
�
� 


#
�
�

�
��
�
��

�
��
�


��


�

�
�
��

#
��
�
�
�
��
�
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&3
3

.
��
��
�
��
�
�
�

��
�
�$
�

�
�

��
�
��
�
�

�
�


�
��


��

#
��
�
�

��
��



�
�!
"
�

#
$
� 
�
%&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&
3
�

.
��
��
�
�

��
�

��
��
�
�
2


��
5�
-
�
��
�
�
�
��

�
 
�$
�

�
��
�



��
�

�

�
�
�
�
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&3
'

.
��
��
-
�
�/
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
2


��
5�
-
�
��
�
�
�
��

�
 
�$
�

�
��
�



��
�

�

�
�
�
�
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&&
&
3
)

�
�
�
�

�
��
��
�
�
�

6
�
�
��
�

�
�
�
��
�
�
$
�
��
�
��


�
�
�
�'
�3
+
� 
��
�
�

#
�

�
�
��
�
�
�
�
��0
�
��
�
��
�
��



�
�
�
�

�


��
�

�

�
�
��
�
 
��



�
��
��
��

�
 
�

-
�
2
�
&�
6
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
�
�

�
�
��
�

�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�

�
�


�
�
�



��
�

�
$
�
�

��
�

�
�

�
�
��
2
�
7�
$
�
��
�
��
�
��
�

�
�


�
�
�#
�


��
��
�

�
��
�
�
�
�

�
-
�

$
�
�
�
��
�
�2
��
�
��



�


�
�
��
7�
 
��
�
�

�
��
�

�
 
��
��
�

�
 
��

�
�
-
�
��
&

6
�
�
��
�
 
��
��
�
� 
�
�
�

�
�
�

�8

�
��
�
�
�
� 
8�
��
2
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
��



�
�
�
7�
$
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�

�
�

��
��
�
��
��


�

�
2


��



�
�
�
��
��
�
�



��
�

�


�
 
��

�


�
�
�

�

�
�
�
��
�
�
 
�
�

�
�-
�
�



/
�
�


�
�-
��
�
�
�

-
�
�

�
��
�
��
2
�
�
�
�

&
�6
�
��
��
�
2
�
��
��
��
�

�
��
�

�
��
�
�
�
�

�
-
�

$
�
�
�
��
�
�2
��
�
��



�


�
�
��
�

�
 
�

�
�
��
�
��
�
�


�
��
�
��
�
��



�
�
�
�

�


�
&

6
�
�
�#
�
���
$
�-


��
��
�
�
$
��

�
�

�
�#
��
�
��
�
��



�
�
�
� 
�
��
�
�
�

�
�
��
��


�
�
�

��
#
�


��
�
��
�
�
�
�
��
�
7�


�
 
�

�
�
�-
��
�
�-


��
��
�
�
$
��
�
��
�
��



�
�
�
� 
�
��
�
�
��


�
�
��

�
�

�
��
��

�
�
�
�
��
�
&

�
��
��
�
�

80



4
�
�

	


#

�
�
�

�
�
�

4
�
�

9
�
�

:
�



(
�
2

;
�
�

�


�

<
�
-

	


�

1
�

1
�

1
)

1
�

1
�

3
�
�

1
�

3
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
	

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�





�
�
�

 
�



�
�
	

!
�
"

�
�
�

#
$
$
%
&'

#
$
$
'
&(

)
�
��
�



)
�
��
�
�
�
�*

1
�
&)
)

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
)

1
�
&)
�

1
�
&)
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&)
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
1

1
�
&'
1

1
�
&)
)

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
+

1
�
&�
+

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&1
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&3
3

1
�
&�
)

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&�
+

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&3
�

1
�
&3
�

1
�
&3
�

1
�
&3
�

1
�
&3
�

1
�
&3
�

1
�
&3
�

1
�
&3
�

1
�
&3
�

1
�
&3
�

1
�
&3
�

1
�
&3
�

�
�
�

�
�
�
�
��

�
�
�
�
��

6


��
�



6
�
��
�
�
�
� 

+
,
�%
%
�
�-
��
��
�
�
�

��
	
��
��
��
	

�


�
��
�



�
*
�.
�
�

�
/
�*
�
0

�
�
�
�
�
	



6
�
��
��
�
 
��



�
��
�
�


�
�
��
�
�

�
�
��
�
�

�
�
�
���
�

�
 
�-
#
�

�
�
�4
�

�
�
��

#
�

�
�

��
��
�
�
�

��
�
��
��

�
�
��
�
�

�
��
$
�
 
��
�
��
�
�


��


�

�
�
��

#
��
$
�
�
 
� 
$
�
���
�
�
�
�

�
��
�
�
�

�
�
��
�

#
&

"
�

#
$
� 
�
7�

�
�
�

�



��
��
�

�


�
 
�

��
�


��
� 
�
�
�

�
�

�
�
��
�
�
�
�
���


�

�
��
�
�
�

#
��
��
�
�
�

��
�
�

��
�



/
�
�
��
�

�
�

�
�
�
�
�

�
��
��
�
�
�
��
�
�$


�
�=
)
�
&�
�
�
&�
6
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
��0
�
�



��
�

�
$


�
�

�
��
�
���
�

�
1
�
&�
.
��
��

�
��
�



�
�
�
�

�
�
2
�
��

�
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
��

�
�
�#
�


��
!

�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�

�
 
�-
#
�

�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
�
�

�
�
��
�

�
�
%&
�6
�
�
��
��


��
�
�
�

�
��
�
�
�
�

��
>
�
��
 
�
�
��
�
�

�


��
�


��
��
�
��

�
��
�


�
 
�

��
�
�
�


�
�
�
��
&

9
�
�
�

�
�
�8
�
�
�

�
"
�
���
�

�
�
�
�

�
 
�4
��
�


��
8�
�
�
�

�
�
�
��
��

�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�	


�


�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
-
��
�
�
�
�


�
�
��
�
�
�
�

��
�
��
��
�

�
�
��
��
��
��




�
�
�
��
�
�$
�
�/
��
�
�

�
�-
�

�
�
�
�

�
��
�
��
�
��



�
�
�
�

�


��
�

�

�
��
�

��
 
��



�
�&

�
��
��
�
�

81



4
�
�

	


#

�
�
�

�
�
�

4
�
�

9
�
�

:
�



(
�
2

;
�
�

�


�

<
�
-

	


�

1
�

1
�

1
)

1
�

1
�

3
�
�

1
�

3
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
	

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�





�
�
�

 
�



�
�
	

!
�
"

�
�
�

#
$
$
%
&'

#
$
$
'
&(

)
�
��
�



)
�
��
�
�
�
�*

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
3

1
�
&)
�

1
�
&)
�

1
�
&)
1

1
�
&)
1

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&3
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&3
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
1

1
�
&)
�

1
�
&)
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&�
+

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
1

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

�
�
�

�
�
�
�
��

�
�
�
�
��

6


��
�



6
�
��
�
�
�
� 

+
,
�%
%
�
�-
��
��
�
�
�

��
	
��
��
��
	

�


�
��
�



�
*
�.
�
�
�

�
0

�
�
�
�
�
	



?�
�

�
�
�(
�
�

�
��
�
�
��
�
��
��

�
�
��
�

#
7�

�
�
�

�



��
��
�

�


�
 
�

��
�


��
� 
�
�
�

�
�

�
�
��
�
�
�
�
���


�

�
��
�
�
�

#
��
��
�
�
�

��
�
�

��
�



/
�
�
��
�

�
�

�
�
�
�
�

�
��
��
�
�
�
��
�
�$


�
�

�
�
��
>
��



�
�#
�=
3
3
&'
�
&�

6
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
��0
�
�



��
�

�
��
�

�
��
�
���
�

�
1
�
&'
.
��
��

�
��
�

�
�
�
�

�
��
�

�
��
��
�
�
��
�
��
2
�
��

�
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
��

�
�
�#
�


��
!

�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�

�
 
�-
#
�

�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
�
�

�
�
��
�

�
�
%&
�

9
�
�
�

�
�
�8
�
�
�

�
"
�
���
�

�
�
�
�

�
 
�4
��
�


��
8�
�
�
�

�
�
�
��
��

�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�	


�


�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
-
��
�
�
�
�


�
�
��
�
�
�
�

��
�
��
��
�

�
�
��
��
��
��




�
�
�
��
�
�$
�
�/
��
�
�

�
�-
�

�
�
�
�

�
��
�
��
�
��



�
�
�
�

�


��
�

�

�
��
�

��
 
��



�
�&

�
��
��
�
�

82



4
�
�

	


#

�
�
�

�
�
�

4
�
�

9
�
�

:
�



(
�
2

;
�
�

�


�

<
�
-

	


�

1
�

1
�

1
)

1
�

1
�

3
�
�

1
�

3
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
	

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�





�
�
�

 
�



�
�
	

!
�
"

�
�
�

#
$
$
%
&'

#
$
$
'
&(

)
�
��
�



)
�
��
�
�
�
�*

1
�
&+
'

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&)
+

1
�
&)
+

1
�
&+
3

1
�
&)
'

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&3
)

1
�
&3
'

1
�
&�
1

1
�
&3
1

1
�
&�
+

1
�
&'
+

1
�
&)
3

1
�
&+
)

1
�
&+
+

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&1
�

1
�
&1
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
3

1
�
&�
1

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�
�
��

�
�
�
�
��

6


��
�



6
�
��
�
�
�
� 

+
,
�%
%
�
�-
��
��
�
�
�

��
	
��
��
��
	

�


�
��
�



�
*
�.
1
�
�

0

�
�
�
�
�
	



?�
�

�
�
�*

�
�

�
��
�
��
�
��
��

�
�
��
�

#
7�

�
�
�

�



��
��
�

�


�
 
�

��
�


��
� 
�
�
�

�
�

�
�
��
�
�
�
�
���


�

�
��
�
�
�

#
��
��
�
�
�

��
�
�

��
�



/
�
�
��
�

�
�

�
�
�
�
�

�
��
��
�
�
�
��
�
�$


�
�

�
�
��
>
��



�
�#
�=
�
&�
�
&�

6
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
��0
�
�



��
�

�
��
�

�
��
�
���
�

�
1
�
&+
.
��
��

�
��
�

�
�
�
�

�
��
�

�
��
��
�
�
��
�
��
2
�
��

�
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
��

�
�
�#
�


��
!

�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�

�
 
�-
#
�

�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
�
�

�
�
��
�

�
�
%&

9
�
�
�

�
�
�8
�
�
�

�
"
�
���
�

�
�
�
�

�
 
�4
��
�


��
8�
�
�
�

�
�
�
��
��

�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�	


�


�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
-
��
�
�
�
�


�
�
��
�
�
�
�

��
�
��
��
�

�
�
��
��
��
��




�
�
�
��
�
�$
�
�/
��
�
�

�
�-
�

�
�
�
�

�
��
�
��
�
��



�
�
�
�

�


��
�

�

�
��
�

��
 
��



�
�&

�
��
��
�
�

83



4
�
�

	


#

�
�
�

�
�
�

4
�
�

9
�
�

:
�



(
�
2

;
�
�

�


�

<
�
-

	


�

1
�

1
�

1
)

1
�

1
�

3
�
�

1
�

3
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
	

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�





�
�
�

 
�



�
�
	

!
�
"

�
�
�

#
$
$
%
&'

#
$
$
'
&(

)
�
��
�



)
�
��
�
�
�
�*

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&3
)

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
1

1
�
&3
)

1
�
&3
�

1
�
&3
�

1
�
&�
)

1
�
&3
1

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
)

1
�
&'
+

1
�
&)
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&)
�

1
�
&�
+

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&1
3

1
�
&�
3

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

1
�
&'
�

�
�
�

�
�
�
�
��

�
�
�
�
��

6


��
�



6
�
��
�
�
�
� 

+
,
�%
%
�
�-
��
��
�
�
�

��
	
��
��
��
	

�


�
��
�



�
*
�.
�
�
	

�
�
�0

�
�
�
�
�
	



?�
�

�
�
�"
�
�

�


��
��
�
��
�
��
��

�
�
��
�

#
7�

�
�
�

�



��
��
�

�


�
 
�

��
�


��
� 
�
�
�

�
�

�
�
��
�
�
�
�
���


�

�
��
�
�
�

#
��
��
�
�
�

��
�
�

��
�



/
�
�
��
�

�
�

�
�
�
�
�

�
��
��
�
�
�
��
�
�$


�
�

�
�
��
>
��



�
�#
�=
�
&�
�
&�

6
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
��0
�
�



��
�

�
��
�

�
��
�
���
�

�
1
�
&+
.
��
��

�
��
�

�
�
�
�

�
��
�

�
��
��
�
�
��
�
��
2
�
��

�
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
��

�
�
�#
�


��
!

�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�

�
 
�-
#
�

�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
�
�

�
�
��
�

�
�
%&
�

9
�
�
�

�
�
�8
�
�
�

�
"
�
���
�

�
�
�
�

�
 
�4
��
�


��
8�
�
�
�

�
�
�
��
��

�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�	


�


�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
-
��
�
�
�
�


�
�
��
�
�
�
�

��
�
��
��
�

�
�
��
��
��
��




�
�
�
��
�
�$
�
�/
��
�
�

�
�-
�

�
�
�
�

�
��
�
��
�
��



�
�
�
�

�


��
�

�

�
��
�

��
 
��



�
�&

	
��
��
�
�

84



4
�
�

	


#

�
�
�

�
�
�

4
�
�

9
�
�

:
�



(
�
2

;
�
�

�


�

<
�
-

	


�

1
�

1
�

1
)

1
�

1
�

3
�
�

1
�

3
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
	

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�





�
�
�

 
�



�
�
	

!
�
"

�
�
�

#
$
$
%
&'

#
$
$
'
&(

)
�
��
�



)
�
��
�
�
�
�*

1
+
&�
�

1
+
&�
�

1
+
&)
)

1
+
&)
3

1
+
&'
1

1
+
&+
�

1
+
&)
�

1
+
&)
1

1
+
&'
)

1
+
&)
+

1
+
&)
)

1
+
&)
)

1
+
&�
�

1
+
&1
�

1
�
&�
�

1
+
&�
1

1
+
&�
1

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
'

1
�
&)
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
1

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
+

1
�
&�
+

1
�
&�
+

1
�
&�
+

1
�
&�
+

1
�
&�
+

1
�
&�
+

1
�
&�
+

1
�
&�
+

1
�
&�
+

1
�
&�
+

1
�
&�
+

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&+
�

�
�
�

�
�
�
�
��

�
�
�
�
��

6


��
�



6
�
��
�
�
�
� 

+
,
�%
%
�
�-
��
��
�
�
�

��
	
��
��
��
	

�


�
��
�



�
*
�.
2
�
�

0

�
�
�
�
�
	



?�
�

�
�
�,


�

�
��
�
��
�
��
��

�
�
��
�

#
7�

�
�
�

�



��
��
�

�


�
 
�

��
�


��
� 
�
�
�

�
�

�
�
��
�
�
�
�
���


�

�
��
�
�
�

#
��
��
�
�
�

��
�
�

��
�



/
�
�
��
�

�
�

�
�
�
�
�

�
��
��
�
�
�
��
�
�$


�
�

�
�
��
>
��



�
�#
�=
3
'
&3
�
&�

6
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
��0
�
�



��
�

�
��
�

�
��
�
���
�

�
1
�
&�
+
.
��
��

�
��
�

�
�
�
�

�
��
�

�
��
��
�
�
��
�
��
2
�
��

�
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
��

�
�
�#
�


��
!

�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�

�
 
�-
#
�

�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
�
�

�
�
��
�

�
�
%&
�

9
�
�
�

�
�
�8
�
�
�

�
"
�
���
�

�
�
�
�

�
 
�4
��
�


��
8�
�
�
�

�
�
�
��
��

�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�	


�


�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
-
��
�
�
�
�


�
�
��
�
�
�
�

��
�
��
��
�

�
�
��
��
��
��




�
�
�
��
�
�$
�
�/
��
�
�

�
�-
�

�
�
�
�

�
��
�
��
�
��



�
�
�
�

�


��
�

�

�
��
�

��
 
��



�
�&



��
��
�
�

85



4
�
�

	


#

�
�
�

�
�
�

4
�
�

9
�
�

:
�



(
�
2

;
�
�

�


�

<
�
-

	


�

�
�

�
+

1
�

1
+

3
�
�

�
�

3
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
	

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�





�
�
�

 
�



�
�
	

!
�
"

�
�
�

#
$
$
%
&'

#
$
$
'
&(

)
�
��
�



)
�
��
�
�
�
�*

1
)
&'
�

1
�
&1
�

1
'
&1
�

1
'
&�
3

1
'
&1
+

1
'
&1
)

1
'
&�
�

1
'
&�
+

1
�
&�
�

1
3
&+
'

1
3
&1
1

1
'
&�
�

�
�
&�
�

1
)
&�
�

1
+
&+
�

1
+
&)
�

1
+
&�
�

1
+
&�
3

1
)
&)
1

1
'
&3
)

1
'
&+
�

1
)
&�
�

1
'
&�
�

1
+
&�
�

1
+
&�
�

1
+
&�
�

1
+
&�
�

1
+
&�
�

1
+
&�
�

1
+
&�
�

1
+
&�
�

1
+
&�
�

1
+
&�
�

1
+
&�
�

1
+
&�
�

1
)
&�
�

1
)
&�
�

1
)
&�
�

1
)
&�
�

1
)
&�
�

1
)
&�
�

1
)
&�
�

1
)
&�
�

1
)
&�
�

1
)
&�
�

1
)
&�
�

1
)
&�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�
�
��

�
�
�
�
��

6


��
�



6
�
��
�
�
�
� 

+
,
�%
%
�
�-
��
��
�
�
�

��
	
��
��
��
	

�


�
��
�



�
*
�.

�
�
�
�
��
��
��




�
�
�
�
*
�

�
�
	
0

�
�
�
�
�
	



<
�
��

�
�
�
�
�

�#
�

�
�
�
�
�
�
 



�
�
�
7�

�
�
�

�



��
��
�

�


�
 
�

��
�


��
� 
�
�
�

�
�

�
�
��
�
�
�
�
���


�

�
��
�
�
�

#
��
��
�
�
�

��
�
�

��
�



/
�
�
��
�

�
�

�
�
�
�
�

�
��
��
�
�
�
��
�
�$


�
�=
�
�
+
7�
1
�
&�

6
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
��0
�
�



��
�

�
��
�

�
��
�
���
�

�
1
+
&�
.
��
��

�
��
�

�
�
�
�

�
��
�
�
�

�
�
�
�
�

�#
�

�
�
�
�
�
�
 



�
�
�
��
2
�
��

�
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
��

�
�
�#
�


��
!

�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�

�
 
�-
#
�

�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
�
�

�
�
��
�

�
�
%&
�

9
�
�
�

�
�
�8
�
�
�

�
"
�
���
�

�
�
�
�

�
 
�4
��
�


��
8�
�
�
�

�
�
�
��
��

�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�	


�


�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
-
��
�
�
�
�


�
�
��
�
�
�
�

��
�
��
��
�

�
�
��
��
��
��




�
�
�
��
�
�$
�
�/
��
�
�

�
�-
�

�
�
�
�

�
��
�
��
�
��



�
�
�
�

�


��
�

�

�
��
�

��
 
��



�
�&

�
��
��
�
�

86



4
�
�

	


#

�
�
�

�
�
�

4
�
�

9
�
�

:
�



(
�
2

;
�
�

�


�

<
�
-

	


�

�3�')+���1

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
	

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�





�
�
�

 
�



�
�
	

!
�
"

�
�
�

#
$
$
%
&'

#
$
$
'
&(

)
�
��
�



)
�
��
�
�
�
�*

�
&+
�

�
&+
+

�
&+
�

�
&'
1

�
&'
1

�
&+
�

�
&'
�

�
&�
�

�
&+
�

�
&�
�

�
&�
�

�
&�
'

�
&)
�

�
&)
�

�
&)
+

�
&�
�

�
&�
�

�
&�
�

�
&�
)

�
&3
�

�
&�
)

�
&1
�

�
&1
3

�
&�
+

�
&�
�

�
&�
�

�
&�
�

�
&�
�

�
&�
�

�
&�
�

�
&�
�

�
&�
�

�
&�
�

�
&�
�

�
&�
�

�
&�
�

�
&�
�

�
&�
�

�
&�
�

�
&�
�

�
&�
�

�
&�
�

�
&�
�

�
&�
�

�
&�
�

�
&�
�

�
&�
�

�
&�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�
�
��

�
�
�
�
��

6


��
�



6
�
��
�
�
�
� 

�
�
�
�
�
	

�

6
�
��
��
�
 
��



�
��
�
�


�
�
��
�
�

�
�
��
�
�
-
�
��
�
��

�
�


�

�
�$
�

�
��
�$
�
�
/
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
��
�
�
��
�
�

�


��
�


��
�

�
�

��
�
��
�
�



�
�
��
��

�
�
�

�



��
�
�
�
-
�
��
�
��

�
�


�

�
&

?�
��
��
�
�

�
�
�@
��
�
2
�
7�

�
�
��
�

��
��
�
�
�
�
�#
�3
�
7�
�
�
�

�
�


�

�
7�
�
��
$
�
��
�
�

��
�
�
 
�1
+
�
�!
�
&�
.
%�


��
��
�
��

�
��
�

�


�
��
�$
�
�
/
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�

�


��
�


��
&�

9
�
�
�

�
�
�8
�
�
�

�
"
�
���
�

�
�
�
�

�
 
�4
��
�


��
8�
�
�
�

�
�
�
��
��

�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�	


�


�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
-
��
�
�
�
�


�
�
��
�
�
�
�

��
�
��
��
�

�
�
��
��
��
��




�
�
�
��
�
�$
�
�/
��
�
�

�
�-
�

�
�
�
�

�
��
�
��
�
��



�
�
�
�

�


��
�

�

�
��
�

��
 
��



�
�&

+
,
�%
%
"
�-
�3
��
��

�
	
�
	

�
�/
�

�
��
�
��
�

�
�
	
�'
�/
�
�
4
�
5�
��
	

�
�
��
�
�
��

�
��
��
�
�

87



4
�
�

	


#

�
�
�

�
�
�

4
�
�

9
�
�

:
�



(
�
2

;
�
�

�


�

<
�
-

	


�

�+

3
�

3
+

�
�

�
+

'
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
	

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�





�
�
�

 
�



�
�
	

!
�
"

�
�
�

#
$
$
%
&'

#
$
$
'
&(

)
�
��
�



3
&�
'

'
&3
'

+
&�
+

+
&1
'

�
&�
�

�
&1
�

1
&1
�

3
�
&)
�

3
�
&'
�

3
�
&�
)

3
'
&)
�

3
1
&1
1

3
&3
1

)
&�
+

�
&+
'

3
'
&3
�

3
'
&3
�

3
�
&+
�

3
�
&+
�

�
3
&)
3

�
3
&�
�

�
'
&�
)

�
�
&�
+

�
�
&�
'

3
&�
+

�
&+
�

'
&�
+

+
&�
�

�
&�
+

�
&+
�

�
&�
+

3
�
&�
�

3
3
&�
+

3
�
&+
�

3
'
&�
+

3
+
&�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�
�
��

�
�
�
�
��

6


��
�



+
,
�%
%


�-
�3
��
��

�
	
�
	

�
��
	
��
��
�
�
��
�/
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
*
�	
�

�


�
�
��
�
�
4
�	
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
��
	
��
�
��
�
*

�
�
�
�
�
	

�

6
�
��
��
�
 
��



�
��
�
�


�
�
��
�
�

�
�
��
�
�
-
�
��
�
��

�
�


�

�
�$
�
�
��


2
�
��


 
��
�

�
�
�
��
�
�
/
��
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
�2
�
 
�

�
�

��
�
�
�
�

��
��
-
�
��
�
��
�
�

��
�


��
�

�
�

��
�
��
�
�



�
�
��
��

�
�
�

�



��
�
�
�
-
�
��
�
��

�
�


�

�
�

$
�
�
�

��
��
�
�

��
�


��
&�
(
�

�
�
�
�
��
�
�
/
��
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�

��
��
�
�2
�
 
�

�
��
�
�
�
�
�


�#
�

�
��
�
�
�
�
�

�

�
�
�#
�


�7
��
�
�

�
�
��
�
�
-
�
��

�
�
��
�
�
�
�
���
�
�
�2
�
�
��
�
�
��


�
�
�
�

�
�

�
�
�#
�


��
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
�
��
��
�
�4
�
��
��

�
�

	


��
�
&�
:
2
�
��

�
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
��

�
�
�#
�


�7
�

�
�
��
�
�
�
�
���


��
�
�

�
��
�
�2
�
��
�

�
�
�
�
��
�
�
/
��
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�

�
��
�
��

�
��
�

�


�
�3
+
.
��
��

�
�


�

�
��
�
�

��
�


��
�!


�
��
�
 
��



�
 
�-
#
�

�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
%&

9
�
�
�

�
�
�8
�
�
�

�
"
�
���
�

�
�
�
�

�
 
�4
��
�


��
8�
�
�
�

�
�
�
��
��

�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�	


�


�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
-
��
�
�
�
�


�
�
��
�
�
�
�

��
�
��
��
�

�
�
��
��
��
��




�
�
�
��
�
�$
�
�/
��
�
�

�
�-
�

�
�
�
�

�
��
�
��
�
��



�
�
�
�

�


��
�

�

�
��
�

��
 
��



�
�&

�


��
��
�
�

88



4
�
�

	


#

�
�
�

�
�
�

4
�
�

9
�
�

:
�



(
�
2

;
�
�

�


�

<
�
-

	


�

�+

3
�

3
+

�
�

�
+

'
�

'
+

)
�

)
+

+
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
	

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�





�
�
�

 
�



�
�
	

!
�
"

�
�
�

#
$
$
%
&'

#
$
$
'
&(

)
�
��
�



)
�
��
�
�
�
�*

'
3
&'
)

'
3
&3
�

�
1
&'
�

�
�
&�
1

'
3
&�
�

'
�
&�
�

'
+
&1
�

)
1
&3
�

)
�
&'
�

)
�
&3
�

)
3
&'
�

'
1
&�
1

)
�
&�
�

)
�
&+
�

)
'
&+
�

'
1
&�
�

'
3
&3
�

�
+
&'
�

�
�
&)
�

�
�
&+
�

�
�
&�
'

�
+
&�
�

�
)
&'
�

�
3
&�
3

'
�
&�
�

'
�
&�
�

'
�
&�
�

'
�
&�
�

'
�
&�
�

'
�
&�
�

'
�
&�
�

'
�
&�
�

'
�
&�
�

'
�
&�
�

'
�
&�
�

'
�
&�
�

)
�
&�
�

)
�
&�
�

)
�
&�
�

)
�
&�
�

)
�
&�
�

)
�
&�
�

)
�
&�
�

)
�
&�
�

)
�
&�
�

)
�
&�
�

)
�
&�
�

)
�
&�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�
�
��

�
�
�
�
��

6


��
�



6
�
��
�
�
�
� 

+
,
�#
6
#
�-
��
�
�
��
�
�
�

��
�
��
	
�*
�
�
�
�

�
��
�
��

�
��


�
��
�
�

�
�
��

�
��
�
�
�
�	
�

�
�
�
�
�
	

�

6
�
��
��
�
 
��



�
��
�
�


�
�
��
�
�

�
�
�

2
�
�

�
�
��
�
�
-
�
��
�
��
 


#
�
�

�
��
�
��

�
��
�


��


�

�
�
��

#
��
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�

�
�
#
��


2
�
�-
�
�
�
�
�
�2


�


�

&
�6
�
��
��
�
�
��
 
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�

�
 
�

�
 
��
�
�
�

�
��
 
�

�
�
�
�
�
�
 



�
�
�
7�
-
�

�

�
>
�
��
 
�
�
��
��
�
�
�

��
�
��
�
 
�
��
�
��
�
��



5�
��
��
�


��
�
&

6
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
���


��
�
�

�
�

�
�
��
2
�
�

�
�

2
�
�

�
�
��
�
��

�

�
�
�
��
��
'
�
� 


#
�
��
��
��
�
�
�!


�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�

�
 
�-
#
�

�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
�
�

�
�
��
�

�
�
%&
��
�
�#
��
�
�
 
��
�
��
�
��



�
�
�
��
��
�
�9
�
�

�
�
-
�
��
�
�
$


� 
�
�$


�
�

�
��
�
�

�
-
#
��
��
$
�
��

�
�
�
�
�


�

�
�
��



�

��
��

�
�
�#
�


�7
��
�2
��
�
�

��
��


��
��
�
�
�

�5
�
�

�
�
2
�
��



��
�

�
�
��
'
3
� 


#
�
&�
�

9
�
�
�

�
�
�8
,
�
�

#
��
��
�
�
�

#
�6
�
��


��
�
�
 
�6
��
�
8�
�
�
�

�
�
�
��
��

�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�	


�


�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
-
��
�
�
�
�


�
�
��
�
�
�
�

��
�
��
��
�

�
�
��
��
��
��




�
�
�
��
�
�$
�
�/
��
�
�

�
�-
�

�
�
�
�

�
��
�
��
�
��



�
�
�
�

�


��
�

�

�
��
�

��
 
��



�
�&

�
�
��
��
�
�

89



4
�
�

	


#

�
�
�

�
�
�

4
�
�

9
�
�

:
�



(
�
2

;
�
�

�


�

<
�
-

	


�

�
�

�
+

1
�

1
+

3
�
�

�
�

3
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
	

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�





�
�
�

 
�



�
�
	

!
�
"

�
�
�

�
�
�

��
�

�

�

7	
��
��


�
�
�

)
�
��
�



1
�
&�
�

1
�
&3
�

1
�
&)
+

1
1
&�
'

1
1
&�
�

1
1
&�
'

1
�
&1
�

1
�
&�
1

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&+
�

1
�
&�
1

1
1
&�
�

3
&�
�

3
&1
�

3
&+
+

�
&1
�

�
&�
�

�
&1
�

3
&�
'

3
&�
3

3
&�
�

3
&)
�

3
&'
3

�
&1
)

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

�
�
�

"
�
�

��
��



�
 

?�
��
��
�
�
�
�

6


��
�



3
��
��
�
��
�
�
�

��
�
�/
�

�
��
�

�
��
�
	

�
�
�
�
��
�
��

�
�

�
�

��
�

�

�
�.
�
�

�
/
�*
�
0

�
�
�
�
�
	

�

� 6
�
��
��
�
 
��



�
��
�
�


�
�
��
�
�

�
�
��
�
��
�
�



�
�
��
��
��
�


��


�

�
�
��

#
��
�
�
�
�
�$
�

�
��


�
��
��
�
$
�
�/
��
��
�
A
�
��
�
�

�
��
��
$
�
��
�
�

�
�
��
��
�
�

��
�
��
�
�

�
�


�
��


��

#
��
�
�

��
��



�
&�
6
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
���


��
�
�

�
��
�
�
�
��
�


�



�


���
��
��
2


�

�
�
��
�
�
�

��
�
��


2
�
��
�
�

�
� 



�
��


�
��


��

#
��
�
�

��
��



�
�
&�
6
�
�
��
�

��
�

�
�
��
>
��



�
�#
�3
�
7�
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
�
�

��
�
��
�
��
��
�
�

�
�
�@
��
�
2
�
&

6
�
�
�-
��
�
��
�
�

��
�
�
��
��

�
�
�-


��
�

-
�
2
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�

�

�
�
�
�
��
��
�
�
�

��
�
��
�
��
$
�
��
�
�

�
�
��
��
�
�

��
�
��
�
�

�
�


�
��


��

#
��
�
�

��
��



�
7�
$
�
���
�

�
�
�#
�
���
$
��
�
�

��
�
�


�

�
�
�

�
�
��
��

�
�
�-


��
�
�
�
$
�
�

�
�
�

�
��
�
�
�

��
�
��
��
�
��
�
�
�

��
�
�$
�
�
��
�

�
�
��
�
�

��
��



�
��
�
��
2
�
� 
�
�
&

�
�
��
��
�
�

90



3
��
��
�
��
��
�

��
��
�
�
�
�
��
8�
"
�
�

�
�
�
��

�
*
�/
�

�
�	
�

�
��
�

�

�
�
�
�

4
�
�

	


#

�
�
�

�
�
�

4
�
�

9
�
�

:
�



(
�
2

;
�
�

�


�

<
�
-

	


�

+
�

+
+

�
�

�
+

�
�

�
+

�
�

�
+

1
�

1
+

3
�
�

+
�

3
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
	

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�





�
�
�

 
�



�
�
	

!
�
"

�
�
�

#
$
$
%
&'

#
$
$
'
&(

)
�
��
�



)
�
��
�
�
�
�*

1
)
&�
�

1
+
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

+
�
&�
�

�
'
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

�
)
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
1
&�
�

1
�
&)
�

1
�
&�
�

1
+
&3
�

1
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�
�
��

�
�
�
�
��

6


��
�



6
�
��
�
�
�
� 

�
�
�
�
�
	

�

6
�
��
��
�
 
��



�
��
�
�


�
�
��
�
�

�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

��
�
�
��
��

�
�
��
�

��
�

��
��
�
�
2


��

�


�
&�
B
�

��
�

��

�



�


��
��
�
��
�
�2
�
 
�

�
��
��
�
�
�
�2
�
7�
�

�
��

�
�
��
 
��
�
��
�
��



�
�#
�

��
��
�

�
�
��
��
 
�

�
��
��
�
��
��
�
��

#
�

�
 
�

��
�
�
2
�
 
�$
�

�
��
�3
�$
�
�/
��
�
� 


#
��
��
-
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
�

�
 
&�
:

�
�
��

#
�
�
�
��
��
�
�

��
�

��


��
��
�
�
�
2
�
 
�$
�

�
��
��
�$
�
�/
��
�
� 


#
�
��
��
-
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
�

�
 
&�

�
�
��
��
�
�

91



4
�
�

	


#

�
�
�

�
�
�

4
�
�

9
�
�

:
�



(
�
2

;
�
�

�


�

<
�
-

	


�

+
�

+
+

�
�

�
+

�
�

�
+

�
�

�
+

1
�

1
+

3
�
�

+
�

3
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
	

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�





�
�
�

 
�



�
�
	

!
�
"

�
�
�

#
$
$
%
&'

#
$
$
'
&(

)
�
��
�



)
�
��
�
�
�
�*

1
1
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

1
'
&�
�

�
)
&�
�

�
�
&�
�

1
+
&�
�

�
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
)
&�
�

1
)
&�
�

1
1
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&+
�

1
3
&)
�

1
1
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

3
�
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

1
�
&�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�
�
��

�
�
�
�
��

6


��
�



6
�
��
�
�
�
� 

3
��
��
"
�
�4
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
8�
"
�
�

�
�
�
��

�
*
�/
�

�
�	
�

�
��
�

�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�
�
	

�

6
�
��
��
�
 
��



�
��
�
�


�
�
��
�
�

�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

��
�
�
��
��

�
�
�-
�
�/
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
2


��

�


�
&�
�
�
�/
��
�
��
�
�
�

�



�
��
��


�
�
��
�
�

��
�


�

�
�@
��


��

#
��


C


� 
��
��
�
-
�

�
�
�

�
�/
�
#
��



�
$


#
�
�

��
��
�

�
�
��
��
 
�

�
�

�
��
�
��
��
�
��

#
�

�
 
��
�
�
�
2
�
 
�$
�

�
��
�3
�$
�
�/
��
�
� 


#
��
��
-
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
�

�
 
&�
:

�
�
��

#
�
�
�
��
��
�
�

��
�

��


��
��
�
�
�
2
�
 
�$
�

�
��
��
�$
�
�/
��
�
� 


#
�
��
��
-
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
�

�
 
&�
�

�
�
��
��
�
�

92



�
�
��
��
�
�

93



94



HOUSING MANAGEMENT 
CONSULTATIVE 
COMMITTEE MEETING  

Agenda Item 19 

Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

 

 91 

Subject: External envelope repairs to Somerset & Wiltshire 
House 2008 

Date of Meeting: 22 July 2008 

REPORT OF: Director, Adult Social Care & Housing  

Contact Officer: Name:  Simon Throp Tel: 29-6806 

 E-mail: Simon.throp@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Wards Affected:  Queens Park 

 

FOR GENERAL RELEASE 

 

1. SUMMARY AND POLICY CONTEXT:  

1.1 To seek approval of the housing cabinet to give delegated authority to award 
a contract for repairs to the external envelope of Somerset & Wiltshire house 
to the best value supplier following a mini competition, procured through the 
London Housing Consortia (LHC) in accordance with Contract Standing Order 
CSO 9.3 

 

2. RECOMMENDATION:  

2.1 That the Housing Management Consultative Committee noted that the Cabinet 
Member for Housing will be requested to authorise that the Director of Adult 
Social Care & Housing be given delegated powers to approve the award of the 
contract for external envelope repairs to Somerset & Wiltshire House, following 
financial due diligence and cost comparisons of the tenders offered under mini 
competition from contractors on the LHC external envelope repairs framework, 
following consultation with the Cabinet member for housing. 

 

3. RELEVANT BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

3.1 Following reports of water ingress around windows to various flats within 
these blocks, a number of inspections where undertaken to identify the source 
of the ingress by the council’s planned maintenance team. 
 

3.2 These inspections have identified a breakdown of the pointing to the external 
brickwork and to the cavity trays above the windows which is allowing water 
into the cavity which then travels across the window heads into the flats. 

95



92 

 

3.3 The 2008-09 approved capital programme allowed £2,000,000 excluding fees 
for the external envelope repairs to these blocks. It was further agreed with the 
chair of the previous Housing Committee that the council will look to undertake 
any additional work identified as being needed, such as new lightning 
conductors, roof repairs etc to maximise the use of the scaffolding during 
project. 

 

3.4 To enable the council to complete these works within this financial year, 
allowing for leaseholder consultation and tendering, it is proposed to use the 
London Housing Consortia’s (LHC), external envelope repairs framework. The 
LHC is a specialist public sector building procurement consortium set up for 
use, free of charge, by any public sector organisation wishing to achieve 
efficiency savings in line with the Gershon review. 

 

3.5 Contract standing orders (CSO) 9.3 allows the council to procure works to any 
value in collaboration with other local authorities or other public or voluntary 
sector bodies. Where the council is not the lead buyer, procurement 
procedures shall follow the spirit of the CSO’s, and be in accordance with EU 
Public Procurement Regulations. 

 

3.6 In addition to their assistance in procuring the contract the LHC as part of their 
role as a procurement network also carry out random inspections of the 
installations on our behalf to ensure compliance with their framework KPIs 
reducing our management costs while maintaining quality. 

 

3.7 The LHC framework allows individual clients to choose their own specific 
contract terms. In this instance it is proposed to use a traditional JCT 
intermediate form of contract. 

 

3.8 The draft timetable of events is as follows: 
 

Event Completion date 

Appointment of consultants 
(Delegated authority) 

21 July 2008 

Mini competition 1 September 2008 

Tender report 8 September 2008 

2nd  stage S20 notice 11 October 2008 

Pre start meeting 18 October 2008 

Commencement on site 24 November 2008 

 

Completion  April 2009 

 

96



93 

 

4. CONSULTATION 

4.1 Section 20 consultation has commenced with all leaseholders. 

 

4.2 Residents will be consulted on the works through their residents associations 
and invited to nominate a number of representatives to form a site specific 
panel in line with the new resident involvement strategy which forms part of the 
new procurement strategy agreed by the P& R committee on 3 April 2008 

 

4.3 City Planning will be consulted on the repointing prior to commencement on 
site. 

 

5. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS:  

Financial Implications: 

The Housing Capital Programme 2008/09, approved by Policy & Resources on 3 April 
2008, includes £2.12m for Somerset and Wiltshire High rise blocks essential health 
and safety repairs to brickwork to maintain the exterior of the building. Approval was 
also given to the commencement of the tender process for these essential structural 
works. 

Any Additional works identified as being required will be carried out to maximise the 
use of the scaffolding with the additional costs of the works and how these will be 
funded being reported through Capital Programme Monitoring reports during 2008/09. 

The risk of not awarding the contract in August would result in the delay of the project 
commencement and cause slippage of the approved Housing Capital Programme.  

 

Finance Officer: Susie Allen, Principal Accountant.   Date: 16 May 2008 

5.1  

Legal Implications: 

This contract is a ‘works’ contract for the purposes of the EU Procurement Directive., 
and its value (£2m) falls below the threshold for works contracts (£3.49m).  
Nevertheless, the council’s CSOs and the EU Directive require that sub-threshold 
procurement processes comply with the ‘spirit’ of the Directive.  The proposed tender 
process does so comply.  The Council must take the Human Rights Act into account in 
respect of its actions but it is not considered that any individual’s Human Rights Act 
rights would be adversely affected by the recommendations in this report. 

Lawyer consulted: Alison Leitch  /   Date: 19 May 2008 

5.2  

Equalities Implications: 

5.3 An equalities impact assessment will be completed by the winning contractor 
prior to commencement on site, as this is subject to their chosen method of 
access. 

 

97



94 

 

Sustainability Implications: 

5.4 The specifications will require contractors to submit a sustainability impact 
statement on the contractor’s proposals to reduce waste, recycling, and the 
reduction in CO2 emissions for this project. 

 

Crime & Disorder Implications:  

5.5 Specific security requirements for the scaffold and site compound will be built 
into the specification prior to tender.  

 

Risk and Opportunity Management Implications:  

5.6 Using the council’s risk & opportunities management methodology the 
significant risks and opportunities have been assessed and where amber or 
red a risk register has been produced detailing action & delivery that will inform 
the project. 

 

Corporate / Citywide Implications: 

5.7 This work meets one of the strategic goals of improving the housing stock and 
ensuring that residents have a health living environment 
 

6. EVALUATION OF ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTION(S): 

6.1 None considered 

 

7. REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

7.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7.2 

To enable the council to complete as much of the programme of work within 
this financial year it will need to enter into a contract no later than the end of 
October 2008.  The cabinet preparation timetable does not allow enough time 
for completion of the analysis, consultation with leaseholders and residents or 
dealing with issues arising during negotiations or financial diligence, as well 
as being ready to request approval to award the contract by the deadline date 
of 15 August for the September cabinet members meeting or for the prior 
housing management consultative committee on 23 June. (See contract 
timetable above)). 

In view of this it is requested that authority to enter into the contract be 
delegated to the Director of Adult Social Care & Housing in consultation with 
the Cabinet member. 

98



95 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

Appendices: 

1. None 

 

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

1. None 

 

 

Background Documents 

1. None 

 
 

 

99



100


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	13 Sheltered Housing Focus Group Update
	14 Allocations and Adaptations Focus Groups Update
	15 Housing Green Paper Options Stage 1 Report
	Item 15 Green Paper Apdx

	16 Tender for a Contract for the Provision of a Security Wheel Clamping Service within Brighton & Hove
	17 Housing Strategy 2008-2013; Healthy Homes, Healthy Lives, Healthy City
	18 Housing Management Performance Report
	Item 18 Performance Report

	19 External Envelope Repairs to Somerset & Wiltshire House 2008

